University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2010

The Long-Term Effects of Posttraumatic Growth on Coping: The Roles of Self-Efficacy and Ruminative Thought

Jennifer Marcus University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Marcus, Jennifer, "The Long-Term Effects of Posttraumatic Growth on Coping: The Roles of Self-Efficacy and Ruminative Thought" (2010). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 38. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/38

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

The Long-Term Effects of Posttraumatic Growth on Coping: The Roles of Self-Efficacy and Ruminative Thought

by

Jennifer R. Marcus

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through Psychology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2010

© 2010 Jennifer R. Marcus

The Long-Term Effects of Posttraumatic Growth on Coping: The Roles of Self-Efficacy and Ruminative Thought

by

Jennifer R. Marcus

APPROVED BY:

Dr. D. Kane Faculty of Nursing

Dr. C. Thomas Department of Psychology

Dr. K. Cramer, Advisor Department of Psychology

Dr. J. Jarry, Chair of Defense Department of Psychology

September 16, 2010

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis and that no part of this thesis has been published or submitted for publication.

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis and have included copies of such copyright clearances to my appendix. I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

iii

ABSTRACT

Research shows that traumatic events occur frequently within the general population. Posttraumatic growth (PTG), defined as personal and interpersonal improvements following the experience of traumatic events, has been the focus of positive psychologists for more than a decade. Few studies have asked how experiencing growth post-trauma relates to coping with later life stressors. The current study tested this relation and aimed to discover whether self-efficacy and rumination acted as mediators within a path model. Undergraduate students completed surveys regarding reactions to past traumatic events and coping strategies used for current stressors. The hypothesized model was found to be an adequate fit for the data. PTG predicted task-focused coping related to current stressors as well as recent rumination about a past traumatic event. Self-efficacy also positively predicted task coping, but was negatively impacted by rumination. The present findings will guide future research on recovery from trauma and practical outcomes of growth.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Ken Cramer for his guidance, advice, and enthusiasm throughout my work on this thesis. Thank you as well to my committee members, Dr. Cheryl Thomas and Dr. Deborah Kane, who contributed critical and interesting feedback at the proposal and defense stages of my work.

I would also like to thank my family and friends who provided me with so much support while writing my thesis. Thank you in particular to my mother for her constant interest in my work and to my husband for his love and unending understanding.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARAT	ION OF ORIGINALITY	iii
ABSTRACT		iv
ACKNOWL	EDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF TA	BLES	viii
LIST OF FIG	JURES	ix
CHAPTER		
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	
	Posttraumatic Growth	3
	Self-Efficacy	7
	Rumination	9
	Coping as an Outcome of Growth	12
	Self-Efficacy as a Mediator in the Path from Growth to Coping	16
	Rumination as a Mediator in the Path from Growth to Coping	19
	The Current Study	20
	Hypotheses	21
III.	DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	
	Participants	27
	Measures	29
	Procedure	35
IV.	ANALYSIS OF RESULTS	
	Preliminary Review of Data	37
	Traumatic Event and Current Stressful Experience	39
	Descriptive Statistics and Statistical Assumptions	40
	Hypothesis Testing	43
	Exploratory Analyses	45
V.	DISCUSSION	
	The Current Study	49
	Preliminary Analyses	49
	Direct Relations between Variables	50

Comparison of Path I	Models
Limitations and Futu	re Directions
Implications	
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	

APPENDICES

Stress-Related Growth Scale	70
Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations: Situation Specific Coping	72
New General Self-Efficacy Scale	73
Rumination Inventory	74
Demographic Information	75
Consent to Participate in Research	76
Instructions for Description of Trauma	80
Information Form	81
Author Permission to use Stress-Related Growth Scale	83
Author Permission to use Rumination Inventory	84
VITA AUCTORIS	85

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations With Model Variables by C	oping
Subtype	39
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics for All Model Variables ($N = 175$)	41
Table 3. Correlations Between All Variables Within the Path Models	42
Table 4. Fit Indices for Four Path Models (Including Fit Criteria)	45
Table 5. Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations With Model Variables by	
Rumination Subtype	47

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Regression model, including path coefficients obtained from data analysis,
indicating hypothesized direct and independent relations between the predictors and
coping
Figure 2. The hypothesized model, including path coefficients obtained from data
analysis, indicating both direct effects of PTG on coping and indirect effects as
mediated by self-efficacy and rumination
Figure 3. The alternative model, including path coefficients obtained from data analysis,
indicating both direct and indirect effects of PTG on coping with the addition that
rumination also impacts self-efficacy
Figure 4. Exploratory model based on significant relations within the hypothesized
models

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Historically, psychology has had a strong tendency to focus on the negative: susceptibility to mental illness, the selfishness of individuals, and maladaptive reactions to stressful and traumatic events. More recently, researchers and practitioners have provided increasing support to the field of positive psychology. Here, the focus is on forming a complete picture of the individual. The strength of individuals, their ability to overcome difficult circumstances, and their capacity to grow as people exist alongside the pathology and stress prominent in past research. One interesting branch of research within positive psychology concerns individual reactions to the experience of traumatic events. Traumatic events are not uncommon within the general population. In fact, recent research has shown that over 75% of Canadians have experienced at least one traumatic event in their lives (Van Ameringen, Mancini, Patterson, & Boyle, 2008). Research on trauma has focused primarily on Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), which is estimated to occur in upwards of half of individuals within at-risk groups (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). Of interest to positive psychologists is the nature of the experience of the remainder of the at-risk population. Do these individuals experience sub-threshold levels of stress that are not diagnosable, do they simply incorporate traumatic events into their self-concept and move forward, or do they find meaning in their experiences that allows them to grow as individuals? It is this idea of growth and meaning making that has been the focus of positive psychologists and is the focus of the present study. This study aimed to explore the long-term potential benefits conferred by growth following traumatic events by assessing

reactions to current life stressors and the mechanisms through which growth exerts its influence.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Posttraumatic Growth

Growth following traumatic events has been assigned many labels within the literature. The terms "meaning making", "benefit finding", "stress-related growth", and "posttraumatic growth" have slightly different connotations, but their general meaning is the same. They all imply that some sort of value has been added to the lives of the individuals by the trauma they have experienced. Consistent with the work of Tedeschi, Park, and Calhoun (1998), the term posttraumatic growth (PTG) will be used to describe this experience, and encompasses the following five domains: "greater appreciation of life and changed sense of priorities; warmer, more intimate relationships with others; a greater sense of personal strength; recognition of new possibilities or paths for one's life; and spiritual development" (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004, p. 6). The prevalence of PTG tends to vary from study to study. For example, six months after being injured in the 2004 Southeast Asian tsunami, 88% of those surveyed by Tang (2007) had experienced some degree of growth related to their experience. Comparatively, Lelorain, Bonnaud-Antignac, and Florin (2010) found moderate to high levels of 18 out of 21 indicators of growth in the majority of 5 to 15 year breast cancer survivors surveyed. Milam, Ritt-Olson, and Unger (2004) found that 30% of high school students who had experienced traumatic events reported moderate PTG. Therefore while not all individuals achieve high level of personal growth after trauma, the experience of moderate growth is common and cannot be ignored among individuals who have experienced traumatic events.

Research on PTG has focused primarily on its definition and which factors influence the occurrence of PTG following events such as bereavement, chronic illness, abuse, and terrorist attacks. For Tedeschi, Park, and Calhoun (1998) PTG represents the experience of significant positive changes beyond pre-trauma levels in appreciation for, and outlook on, life, spirituality, personal strength, and interpersonal relationships following traumatic events. Important changes occur in individual perceptions of self through the process of growth. Often, individuals who survived a traumatic event will view themselves as vulnerable victims of the trauma. Through self-reflection characteristic of PTG, these negative perceptions of the self are transformed into a more positive view of the self as a survivor. Furthermore, this positive shift instils a sense of confidence and selfreliance in the individual, along with a sense of mastery over the present situation. Individuals who experience PTG come to feel that they have the confidence and competence to apply their personal strength to any situation (Aldwin, 2007). Individuals coping with a trauma are also prompted to seek out support from their peers, eliciting positive changes in number of and satisfaction with interpersonal relationships (Tedeschi et al., 1998).

It is important to note that while growth is ultimately a positive experience, it does not occur in isolation. According to Tedeschi and Calhoun (1995) traumas that facilitate growth have a number of important characteristics. The event is shocking, sudden, unexpected, and not within the realm of ordinary events. They lead individuals to experience powerlessness and a lack of control. Furthermore, an event is perceived as more traumatic when its consequences are irreversible and cause long-lasting problems for the individual. PTG cannot take place immediately following a trauma. Rather, individuals experience a period of initial distress when all previously held assumptions about their lives are called into question and individuals may experience symptoms of PTSD. In fact, moderate levels of PTSD symptomology have been found to relate to PTG among Israelis threatened with ongoing terrorism (Hall, Hobfoll, Canetti, Johnson, & Galea, 2009), HIVpositive survivors of Hurricane Katrina (Cieslak et al., 2009), Holocaust survivors (Lurie-Beck, Liossis, & Gow, 2008), and other samples. As described by Butler (2007):

Growth occurs in the context of great emotional upheaval due to a psychologically seismic event that seriously challenges or disrupts the individual's basic assumptions and modes of interpreting and adapting to experience, with the implication that, if anything, initial steps toward growth would be coupled with at least some distress. (p. 371)

The distress and depression caused by traumatic events act as a catalyst that pushes the individual forward to adapt to the traumatic event (Dolbier, Jaggars, & Steinhardt, 2010; Tedeschi et al., 1998). Therefore, PTG differs significantly from the concept of resilience, in which individuals experience minimal PTSD after traumatic events. Rather than being able to minimize the negative effects of trauma immediately, as with resilient individuals, those who experience growth use their extreme negative circumstances to spark change in their lives (Levine, Laufer, Stein, Hamama-Raz, & Solomon, 2009).

Though finding meaning within a stressful situation is an adaptive behaviour, not all individuals are able to experience the same degree of growth. A number of demographic factors play a role in growth after trauma. Gender is one variable that has been found to inconsistently affect PTG. Polatinsky and Esprey (2000) examined gender differences in PTG among mothers and fathers who had experienced the death of their child. Similar to other researchers, no significant gender differences were found, in spite of mothers' tendency to report slightly higher levels of PTG than fathers. A meta-analysis performed by Vishnevsky and colleagues (2010) failed to replicate these results and instead found small to moderate gender differences with women reporting more PTG than men. This difference was found to increase with the age of respondents. There appears to be a curvilinear relationship between PTG and age across past research. Studies of younger adults and adolescents have found that PTG was more likely in older individuals (Lurie-Beck et al, 2008; Milam et al., 2004), whereas studies of older adults found PTG to decrease with age (Polatinsky & Esprey, 2000; Tang, 2007). Tedeschi and Calhoun (1995) indicate that the effect of a traumatic event is lessened if it occurs earlier in childhood. At this stage in life, a traumatic event can be more easily integrated into the self-concept and be perceived as less traumatic for the individual. Moreover, younger individuals may not have the maturity to grow from their stressful experiences (Milam et al., 2004). PTG appears to peak among middle-aged individuals and then decreases in older individuals who find it more difficult to change beliefs about themselves and the world around them (Polatinsky & Esprey, 2000).

Personality factors also affect the development of growth after trauma. Individuals high in openness, conscientiousness, agreeableness, and extraversion tend to experience more growth than those lower in these personality constructs. Conversely, neuroticism was found to be negatively related to PTG (Linley & Joseph, 2004). Among these personality factors, Wilson and Boden (2008) found extraversion to be the most important direct predictor of growth. Additional positive links with PTG have been found with such constructs as self-esteem (Dolbier et al., 2010), optimism (Prati & Pietrantoni, 2009), spirituality and religion (Park, 2006), a disposition of positive affectivity (Lelorain et al., 2010), and attributing positive events to internal, stable, and global causes (Ho, Chu, & Yiu, 2008). Connections with these variables are logical based on the positive nature of both PTG and the personality variables, and the relations have gained empirical support.

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy is one personality factor that has been implicated in the development, process, and outcome of PTG. Self-efficacy is defined as one's perceptions of his or her ability to perform across a variety of situations. According to social cognitive theory, self-efficacy is a series of beliefs about the self associated with specific domains of functioning. When individuals are high in self-efficacy, they feel as though they are competent to control their current situation in order to "better realize desired futures and forestall undesired ones" (Bandura, 2000, p. 17). When individuals do not feel that their actions will make a significant impact, they are unlikely to act on their goals.

Self-efficacy is also related to the development of growth after trauma. Research has shown that individuals who have high self-efficacy prior to experiencing trauma can better adapt to the event and experience more growth (Linley & Joseph, 2004). For example, Luszczynska, Mohamed, and Schwarzer (2005) found that initial reports of self-efficacy among cancer patients positively predicted benefits in personal growth, sensitivity to others, and acceptance of life's imperfections one year after surgery. It is speculated that high levels of self-efficacy encourage "individuals to try to master challenges" (Tedeschi, Park, & Calhoun, 1998, p. 74). Thus self-efficacious individuals will act in order to improve their situation during and after the trauma. Self-efficacy has also been found to

mediate the relationship between PTSD symptoms and PTG in that those with more symptoms and heightened self-efficacy experienced the most growth (Cieslak et al., 2009).

Many theorists believe that individual self-efficacy can change after personal mastery experiences by generalizing to situations and activities beyond the original target behaviour. Each experience of success or failure in a given situation will alter an individual's self-efficacy (Snyder & Lopez, 2007). Many forms of psychotherapy aim to increase self-efficacy as an important component of the intervention to assist in the decrease of symptoms such as depression and anxiety. For example, Lee and colleagues (2006) developed an intervention to help cancer patients cope with current stressful life circumstances. By addressing the existential issues that arise when diagnosed with cancer and exploring the meaning of the emotional and cognitive experiences of the individual in relation to their past life and future goals, significant increases were found for self-efficacy, self-esteem, and optimism compared to a no intervention control group. In particular, the intervention's focus on identifying past accomplishments and personal strengths that could assist with coping with the present situation was a key factor in the increase of self-efficacy across the sample (Lee et al., 2006). This study suggests that the process of finding meaning through deliberate personal reflection facilitates individual growth which builds positive personality factors, such as self-efficacy.

Researchers generally agree that increased self-efficacy is an important outcome of growth through changes in self perception. Individuals who have experienced PTG tend to exhibit "a greater sense of personal strength, resiliency or self-reliance, coupled with developing a new path or opportunities" (Taku, Cann, Calhoun, & Tedeschi, 2008, p. 158). It is this personal strength that allows individuals to feel more in control of their situations and more able to perform and cope effectively. When measuring PTG, many inventories include items that specifically relate to self-efficacy, such as "I know better that I can handle difficulties" and "I have a greater feeling of self-reliance" (Taku, Cann, et al., 2008, p. 162) from the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory, and "I learned that I was stronger than I thought I was" from the Stress-Related Growth Scale (see Appendix A). Thus it is clear that individuals who experience growth also experience increases in self-efficacy as a small portion of the growth process that extend into the future. Yet, efficacy beliefs do not always translate into action in all situations. Little is known about whether PTG facilitates individuals to act on their efficacy beliefs in stressful situations.

Rumination

According to Tedeschi & Calhoun's (2004) cognitive processing model of PTG, the process of growth following a trauma involves thinking about and processing the traumatic event. These thoughts of the event can take on a ruminative quality as they are often unwanted, intrusive, and can be disturbing. Recent research on the concept of repetitive thought and rumination has shown that ruminative thought plays a key role in both psychopathology and self regulation through its involvement in such constructs as worry, perseverative cognition, reflection, and mental simulation (Watkins, 2008). Within cognitive processing theory, rumination relates directly to PTG by assisting the "process of re-examining the beliefs that characterize one's assumptive world in light of an unexpected trauma, and these processes are related to posttraumatic growth" (Tedeschi, Calhoun, & Cann, 2007, p. 398). Within this context, rumination is identical in concept to cognitive processing and cognitive engagement common after trauma. This form of rumination acts

as a mechanism "to cognitively process negative events to allow inclusion of positive appraisals" (Cryder, Kilmer, Tedeschi, & Calhoun, 2006, p. 66). In line with primary researchers of PTG, repetitive thought in all its forms will presently be referred to as rumination (Taku, Calhoun et al., 2008).

Tedeschi, Park, and Calhoun (1998) have theorized that shortly after the occurrence of a traumatic event, individuals primarily experience intrusive thoughts related to the trauma. As time passes, these individuals may begin to think about the event deliberately and work through their emotions related to the trauma. This process of rumination helps individuals to find meaning in their experiences and adapt their self-concept to include the drastic changes that have occurred in their lives. Some individuals are able to quickly fill in the gaps through ruminative thought. They experience growth and move on from that point. Others take considerably longer in order to fully find meaning from their trauma. These individuals may experience both deliberate and intrusive ruminative thoughts for quite some time after the event has occurred. While they do experience some aspects of PTG, their growth process is not yet complete and rumination promotes the formation of conclusions regarding how their traumatic event factors into their life and self-concept.

Park and Fenster (2004) found empirical evidence for the relationship between ruminative thoughts and PTG among undergraduate students. Intrusive thoughts related to a specific stressful event were strongly related to growth furthering the notion that "it is the *struggle* to integrate the information into one's views and life that is the source of potential benefit" (Park & Fenster, 2004, p. 209). The benefits of rumination have also been exhibited within child and adolescent populations, for example after Hurricane Floyd (Cryder et al., 2006). Among this sample, ruminative thought was found to be significantly positively related to competency beliefs, or the children's beliefs that they can handle problems that may arise related to the trauma or other experiences. These competency beliefs, a concept very similar to self-efficacy, were also found to be related to PTG ratings. Wadsworth and colleagues (2004) reported that young adults and adults ruminated less than adolescents in reaction to the September 11th, 2001 terrorist attacks in the United States, indicating that older adults may be able to cope with the trauma without excess rumination.

The adaptive outcomes of rumination do not exist in isolation, but rather can exist alongside feelings of guilt and depression related to the trauma. Various qualities of rumination have been found to differently facilitate adaptive and maladaptive outcomes. For example, Segerstrom, Stanton, Alden, and Shortridge (2003) identified two dimensions along which ruminative thoughts could be differentiated: content (negative versus positive) and purpose (searching versus solving). These dimensions were consistent across samples of undergraduate students and women at risk for breast cancer. Overall, when the thoughts lacked negative content and the goal of the thoughts was to explore feelings and cognitions, better mental health outcomes were expected. Therefore, thinking about past events can improve outcomes when the content and purpose are positive and reflective.

Taku, Calhoun, Cann, and Tedeschi (2008) differentiated rumination into four different categories based on whether the thoughts were intrusive or deliberate, and whether they occurred at the time of the trauma or recently. PTG was found to be significantly correlated with both forms of recent rumination and deliberate rumination soon after the event among an undergraduate population. Taku and colleagues went further to place these variables within a path model and found that only deliberate rumination soon after the event predicted PTG. In spite of the inferred causality within this study, the analysis of Japanese university students was cross-sectional in nature and thus can be interpreted in a number of different ways. As well, this study looked only at individuals who had suffered the loss of a significant other in their lives, and for a large portion of the participants this loss occurred over five years prior to the study, possibly minimizing the amount of recent rumination within the sample.

A follow-up study by Taku, Cann, Tedeschi, and Calhoun (2009) examined the relationship in students from both the United States and Japan. Significant positive correlations were found between PTG and all of the rumination factors (intrusive soon after, deliberate soon after, intrusive recently, deliberate recently) in both samples. Time since the event was inconsistently related to the forms of rumination and PTG in the samples. A stepwise regression analysis was used to clarify the relationships and simulate the path from rumination soon after the event to recent rumination. While past and recent rumination were both significant predictors of PTG in the samples, recent deliberate rumination was consistently the strongest predictor of current PTG levels. Thus, recent ruminative thoughts were an incredibly important factor for identifying someone who now has more competency feelings, positive worldview, and strong interpersonal relationships. Yet, it is unclear how recently thinking about a traumatic event may affect the practical long-term outcomes of growth.

Coping as an Outcome of Growth

The subject of coping is often discussed within the context of both traumatic and stressful life events. Coping, in a general sense, has been defined as the "thoughts and

behaviours that people use to manage the internal and external demands of situations that are appraised as stressful" (Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004, p. 746). An individual's ability to cope depends on many factors, both situational and personal. As such, coping is not a single dimension, or as Park and colleagues succinctly stated, "all coping is not created equal" (2005, p. 298). When faced with an event perceived as stressful and personally significant, the individual chooses to utilize certain coping strategies over others (Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004). There is an endless array of actions and cognitive processes that each individual can utilize to cope. Factor analyses of coping scales have identified a variety of coping categories including seeking social support, religious coping, and an avoidance coping factor (Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004). Folkman and Lazarus (1980) proposed that coping strategies could be considered representative of two major categories: problemfocused or task-focused coping (addressing the problem that is causing the stress) and emotion-focused coping (addressing the distressing emotions themselves). Researchers have continued to support the existence of these two broad categories of coping and have found their use to be effective and adaptive (Endler & Parker, 1999).

Certain coping strategies have been found to be generally effective within particular situations, while others are not (Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004). For example, emotion-focused coping strategies are best used when there is little control over the negative situation. This form of coping encourages individuals to change their views and cognitions related to the distress caused by the event, rather than the event itself. When it is possible to improve the situation, it is generally better to adopt a problem-focused coping strategy or active coping in which the individual actively addresses the distressing situation and acts to improve it (Snyder & Lopez, 2007). Whereas both problem- and emotion-focused coping

are effective and can be positive in many situations, individuals also tend to cope by avoiding, increasing substance use, and utilizing self-blame. These behaviours and cognitions can help reduce the stress within a situation, but they are generally viewed as having maladaptive outcomes within a long-term context (Bryant & Harvey, 1995; Shnider, Elhai, & Gray, 2007).

Adaptive coping strategies have been linked to the experience of growth following a traumatic event. Individuals who reported growth tended to also report a high occurrence of emotion-focused coping strategies and problem-focused coping strategies. In one study of mothers who had recently lost a child, Riley, LaMontagne, Hepworth, and Murphy (2007) found that greater personal growth was related to higher incidences of active coping, positive reframing, and both seeking out social support and perceived social support. Lelorain et al. (2010) also found positive and active coping to be positively related to growth in breast cancer survivors. Among individuals with rheumatoid arthritis, problem-focused coping strategies were directly related to both changes in relationships with others and perceptions of the self, two important aspects of PTG (Dirik & Karanci, 2008). Overall, being able to positively and actively cope with a stressor appears to facilitate personal improvement.

Though coping strategies have been implicated in the occurrence of growth, research is lacking in what the practical outcomes of PTG are for individuals as they cope with later life stressors. The study of historical traumatic events has shed some light on the coping outcomes of individuals who have undergone a great deal of traumatic distress. The Holocaust is one tragedy that prompted much research related to PTG. Kahana (1992) asked Holocaust survivors to reflect upon their experiences and the perceived effects on their current life. Practically all of the survivors reported that they had changed because of the Holocaust and over a third of respondents stated that they felt some positive and beneficial outcomes of their tragic past. When asked whether they felt their experiences assisted them in coping with general stressors later in life, over a quarter of respondents stated that because of their experiences they felt they could cope with anything. Of the individuals who described positive outcomes, between one quarter and one half of those individuals reported enhanced coping resources, stronger self-concept, greater appreciation for life, and having a better understanding of others. Lurie-Beck and colleagues (2008) replicated these findings with a different sample of Holocaust survivors and also found that the coping strategies survivors used to cope with their past traumas were generally adaptive and beneficial. Participants felt positive and competent after reflecting on their coping ability and Lurie-Beck et al. hypothesized that "this insight then leads to a more positive perception of their own abilities and may positively influence the way in which they deal with later experiences" (2008, p. 29). Case studies with this population indicate that while not all individuals experience growth, particularly from such a life-altering event, those that do tend to experience positive changes in their coping ability which extend far into the future (Aldwin, 2007).

One important study that looked directly at PTG's relationship with later coping studied the relation among an elderly population in the United States. Park, Mills-Baxter, and Fenster (2005) studied the long-lasting effects of growth experienced after the most traumatic event experienced in the participants' lives. Events included such things as death of a loved one, illness, relationship breakdown, combat experience, and other more common life problems. Park and colleagues (2005) found that experiencing PTG related to a past traumatic event facilitated the use of more positive and adaptive coping strategies to deal with current life stressors (for example, illness, family problems, financial issues, and the prospect of death). In spite of these interesting findings, the researchers failed to shed light on why individual differences were seen in the amount of coping strategies used. As well, their focus on a specific age group, the elderly community, allowed their research to only be generalized to similar communities of individuals who are older and have a number of health related concerns. Benefits could be found by applying these research ideas to a sample with different characteristics. Moreover, an exploration of possible personality and cognitive mediators in the relationship between PTG and later coping style would extend the research significantly.

Self-Efficacy as a Mediator in the Path from Growth to Coping

Positive coping styles have been found to correlate with personality traits often viewed as beneficial. Carver and colleagues (1989), for example, found optimism, self-esteem, and hardiness to be positively related to active coping and positive reframing. Newer studies have clarified these relations stating, for example, that optimists tend to view events as under their control and expect positive outcomes from their actions. They are therefore more likely to use problem-focused coping strategies when faced with stress in order to identify a solution and act on it (Matthews & Cook, 2009). Sorlie and Sexton (2001) found that openness and extraversion were also related to goal-oriented coping and support seeking among individuals preparing for surgery. These findings indicate that those who possess more positive personality attributes tend to adopt more adaptive, and

specifically problem-focused, coping strategies. Moreover, many of these traits also help to facilitate PTG following trauma.

General self-efficacy and coping self-efficacy are key factors that contribute to feelings of mastery over particular coping skills. Coping self-efficacy specifically is related to one's ability to cope with stressors as they arise (Aldwin, 2007). When individuals experience stress, they can choose to act on the stressor in order to reduce distress or they can dwell on the stress and negative emotions. Individuals high in coping self-efficacy tend to "lower their stress and anxiety by acting in ways that transform threatening environments into benign ones" (Bandura, 2000, p. 20), characteristic of task-focused coping. For example, using a regression model, Shen (2008) found that self-efficacy directly contributed to the use of active and positive coping, suppression of competing activities and restraint coping, and seeking social support among Chinese school teachers. Trouillet, Gana, Lourel, and Fort (2009) found that self-efficacy significantly predicted the use of problem-focused coping strategies, but not emotion-focused coping, within the general population irrespective of age, life events, and perceived stress. Moreover, in accordance with social cognitive theory, individuals strive to be agents for change as they react to stressful events. As agency increases, "the bolder people are in taking on the problematic situations that breed stress and the greater their success in shaping them more to their liking" (Benight & Bandura, 2004, p. 1132). This theory has been supported by researchers such as Lowe et al. (2008) who found that self-efficacy affects not only the type of coping behaviour used, but also effectiveness of coping. Therefore, individuals high in self-efficacy are more confident in using many coping strategies and task-focused strategies in particular (Aldwin, 2007).

While individuals generally have a tendency toward a specific coping style, selfefficacy facilities the generalization of new coping skills learned from experience or training to other situations. Mastery of coping strategies can strengthen efficacy feelings within individuals and encourage them to use similar coping strategies again, possibly in situations that are different from those in which the skills were originally acquired (Smith, 1999). Smith (1999) demonstrated these effects in two studies. In the first, students who were trained in test anxiety reduction were able to generalize their new skills to the general anxiety they experienced in their life. After the intervention, significantly lower global trait anxiety scores and higher self-efficacy scores were seen as compared to a control group. In the second study, women gained physical self-efficacy through a self-defense course and similar positive effects of the intervention were found.

Growth following a trauma and self-efficacy appear to have a similar impact on feelings of competency, mastery, and agency, prompting researchers to wonder how the combination of these variables relates to coping behaviour. Through the use of structural equation modeling in an undergraduate sample, Park and Fenster (2004) found that the path between mastery and PTG was mediated by a variety of coping strategies, such as disengagement, religiousness, restraint, and suppression. Intrinsic religiousness also had an indirect effect on PTG. These combined pathways predicted a significant amount of growth following a traumatic event. Similar results were found by Tang (2007) in the aftermath of the 2004 Southeast Asian tsunami. In this sample, the use of active problem-solving focused coping strategies was related to PTG, specifically items which pertained to personal competency. These studies indicate that self-efficacy, coping, and PTG are related and can impact one another in a number of ways, but lead to further questions about how these factors are related to stressful events experienced post-trauma, particularly the use of task-focused coping strategies.

Rumination as a Mediator in the Path from Growth to Coping

Rumination can assist in working through traumatic events in order to find meaning. Studies have indicated that rumination is also related to coping behaviour used in these traumatic situations. In response to the terrorist attacks of September 11th, 2001 in the United States, Wadsworth et al. (2004) found that rumination was found to be positively associated with problem-solving behaviours and positive thinking for participants in all age groups (adolescents, young adults, and adults). Burwell and Shirk (2007) also found certain coping strategies to be associated with different forms of rumination following a trauma. Among an adolescent sample, they found that two main factors existed within the Ruminative Response Scale, adapted from Nolen-Hoeksema & Morrow's (1991) Response Style Questionnaire: reflection and brooding. While reflection was significantly positively related to primary control engagement coping (problem solving, emotion regulation) and secondary control engagement coping (positive thinking, acceptance), brooding was significantly related to voluntary disengagement coping (avoidance, denial). Thus reflecting on traumatic events not only leads to less negative symptoms, it also helps individuals cope with their trauma in a more productive and proactive manner.

Similarly, ruminative thoughts have been found to be related to cognitive coping strategies such as rehearsal of coping skills, problem solving, and planning (Watkins, 2008). Rivkin and Taylor (1999), for example, found that undergraduate students who were asked to visualize an ongoing stressor in their lives adopted more problem-focused coping strategies than both those asked to visualize resolving the stressor and those with no intervention. Rivkin and Taylor speculated that "event simulation may have encouraged problem-solving activities by facilitating cognitive processing of the stressful event, thus providing information on how the problem began and what one could do about it" (1999, p. 1460). This study shows that reflecting and ruminating on stressful events not only facilitates internal changes in well-being, but also translates into action-based changes for many individuals. The role of thinking about traumatic and stressful events in using adaptive coping behaviours is one that should not be ignored, yet has received little attention within past research. The present study aimed to strengthen the place of rumination within the context of PTG and coping.

The Current Study

The present study aimed to clarify the existing research on PTG and its long-term benefits. Previous research indicates that active coping benefits are a common outcome of PTG (Lurie-Beck et al., 2008; Park et al., 2005), but details about the nature of this relationship are lacking. An examination of mediating variables was necessary to test whether PTG affected task-focused coping directly, indirectly, or both, and whether selfefficacy and rumination mediated this process. Variables that affect cognitive processing and self-beliefs are known to impact task-focused coping strategies and be positive actionbased outcomes of growth following trauma (Luszczynska et al., 2005; Rivkin & Taylor, 1999; Taku et al., 2009; Trouillet et al., 2009). Whereas previous research has shown that these variables relate to one another, no studies have examined all four variables together in order to observe how self-efficacy and rumination may help explain the relation between PTG and task-focused coping. The purpose of the current study was to test and confirm previous findings about the direct relations between variables, as well as further research by placing self-efficacy, rumination, PTG, and task-focused coping within path models. These models were used to test more complex interrelations within the process between growth following a trauma and task coping related to current life stressors.

A study design similar to Park, Mills-Baxter, and Fenster (2005) was used, in which participants identified a recent, common life stressor and the coping strategies they used to deal with it. Participants then described a traumatic event they had experienced and commented on their level of growth following the trauma and frequency of ruminative thoughts. Whereas this study design has been used with an elderly population, the present study hoped to find similar results within a sample of undergraduate students who had also experienced traumatic events. This group of participants was likely to have experienced different types of traumatic events due to cohort effects. Moreover, their current stressful events related more to school and interpersonal relationships, rather than health-related issues and loss. By focusing only on task-focused coping, subtle relations between predictor variables and specific coping strategies may be more prominent.

Hypotheses

Based on previous research, the following direct relations were hypothesized to be significant:

Hypothesis 1: PTG relates to more task-focused coping strategies. The more individuals experience aspects of growth related to a past trauma, the more they report using task-focused coping strategies to deal with a current life stressor.

Hypothesis 2: PTG relates to an increase in general self-efficacy. Those who experienced growth following a trauma exhibit higher levels of general self-efficacy.

Hypothesis 3: Self-efficacy relates to the use of more task-focused coping strategies. Higher levels of self-efficacy allow individuals to adopt more task-focused coping styles when faced with stressful life events. Those with lower self-efficacy report using fewer of these strategies.

Hypothesis 4: PTG relates to an increase in rumination. As individuals experience PTG, the frequency of thoughts related to the traumatic event increases. These thoughts allow individuals to mentally and emotionally work through their trauma and help them view the event in a positive light.

Hypothesis 5: Ruminative thought frequency decreases with time. The more time that elapsed since the event, the less frequent are intrusive and deliberate thoughts related to the event.

Hypothesis 6: Rumination relates to more task-focused coping. More frequent intrusive and deliberate thought involving problem-solving and reflection on both their trauma and current stressor will develop confidence in coping strategies. This confidence will promote the use of task-focused coping strategies in relation to their current stressor.

Hypothesis 7: Rumination relates to increased self-efficacy. An increase in thoughts related to the positive interpretation of a traumatic event allows the individual to feel more control over their life and their trauma, creating increases in self-efficacy (Benight & Bandura, 2004)

To test both the direct and indirect relationships described, four path models were derived. The following models were compared using path analysis in order to determine which model best described the relations between the variables.

Model 1: The null model represents zero correlations among PTG, self-efficacy, rumination, time since the event, and task-focused coping. In other words, no path model offered a significant fit to the data, and all the relevant variables were uncorrelated.

Model 2: This regression model (see Figure 1) advocated direct and independent relationships between the predictors (PTG, self-efficacy, and rumination) and coping. As well, a direct relation existed between time since the event and ruminative thoughts.

Model 3: The main hypothesized model (see Figure 2) predicted that individuals who experienced greater growth following a traumatic event will experience increases in both self-efficacy and rumination. These increases, as well as the experience of growth in and of itself, lead the individual to use more task-focused coping in response to current stressors. Ruminative thoughts were affected not only by the experience of PTG, but also by the amount of time that elapsed since the traumatic event.

Model 4: This model (see Figure 3) was identical to Model 3 with the added hypothesis that rumination had a positive impact on self-efficacy.



- * Significant at p < .05
- ** Significant at p < .01
- *** Significant at p < .001

Figure 1. Regression model, including path coefficients obtained from data analysis, indicating hypothesized direct and independent relations between the predictors and coping.



- * Significant at p < .05
- ** Significant at p < .01
- *** Significant at p < .001

Figure 2. The hypothesized model, including path coefficients obtained from data analysis, indicating both direct effects of PTG on coping and indirect effects as mediated by self-efficacy and rumination.



- * Significant at p < .05
- ** Significant at p < .01
- *** Significant at p < .001

Figure 3. The alternative model, including path coefficients obtained from data analysis, indicating both direct and indirect effects of PTG on coping with the addition that rumination also impacts self-efficacy.
CHAPTER III

DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

Participants

Participants for the study were 175 University of Windsor undergraduate students. This sample size was adequate for the analyses performed. Kline (2005) recommends having a minimum of 10 cases per parameter, and ideally 20 cases per parameter. The maximum number of parameters across the four models being tested was 15, allowing over 11 cases per parameter. Although this sample size did not reach the ideal 20 cases per parameter guideline, it is sufficient for the analyses.

Of the 175 participants included in the analysis, 141 (80.6%) were female, 29 (16.6%) were male, and 5 (2.9%) did not indicate gender. The mean age of participants was 21.81 (SD = 5.08, N = 172), and ranged from 18 to 45 years. Age was positively skewed as expected among an undergraduate population. Approximately half of the participants (51.5%) indicated a household income above \$50 000, the other half of participants were distributed fairly evenly across the other income brackets (between 7.1 and 10.7 percent of participants indicating each bracket). All participants were enrolled in a psychology course, and most (57.1%) indicated psychology as either a major or minor.

The psychology participant pool was used as the primary source of participants. Using this tool, students enrolled in psychology courses can register, view, and participate in research studies that are currently underway within the department of psychology. If students qualify for a particular study they can sign up for a time slot. The present study was posted on the participant pool website. Students who signed up for the study were presented with the website where the study could be completed. Participants were rewarded for their participation by receiving 0.5 bonus marks for a psychology course of their choice.

A brief description of the study on the participant pool website notified potential participants whether or not they qualified for inclusion and was used as way to screen participants. The description stated that participants would be answering questions about a current life stressor as well as reactions to a past traumatic event. Participants were told that they "must have experienced an event that was personally very stressful or traumatic within the past five years, but not within the past six months". Lists of events that do and do not qualify as traumatic events were also included. For example, very stressful/traumatic events could include robbery, abuse, war, assault, natural disaster, sudden or non-sudden death of a loved one, serious problems related to work, school, or relationships, parental divorce, or diagnosis with illness. In contrast, qualifying events did not include minor problems related to work, school, or relationships, everyday usual stressors, or events that did not cause high levels of prolonged stress. These examples acted as a way to deter individuals who experienced more minor life stressors that they thought might be a trauma. A review of the traumas described within the study confirmed that these descriptions and examples were effective in screening for true traumatic events.

Research has indicated that there is no set timeline in which posttraumatic growth occurs (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). In this way, PTG is both an outcome of growth and an ongoing process that continues long after the traumatic event itself. Moreover, certain aspects of growth may develop faster than others on an individualized basis. The time limit used in this study excluded individuals who had experienced very recent traumatic events in order to allow time to overcome the initial impact of the trauma and begin to work through their experience. Those who experienced trauma more than five years prior to completing the study were also excluded to ensure that the details of the traumatic event were relatively fresh within the minds of the participants. As well, since rumination was hypothesized to decrease with time in most individuals, those who experienced a trauma more than five years ago should not be significantly impacted by current ruminative thought.

Measures

The Stress-Related Growth Scale (SRGS) was developed by Park, Cohen, and Murch (1996) to assess growth following a specific traumatic event experienced by the participant. This scale was used by Park, Mills-Baxter, and Fenster (2005) to assess the growth experienced by the elderly population within their study as well as in a variety of other studies and populations (for example, Abraido-Lanza, Guier, & Colon, 1998; Pargament, Koenig, & Perez, 2000; Roesch, Rowley, & Vaughn, 2004). The scale consists of 50 items (included in Appendix A) describing different experiences that are associated with growth. Some examples of items include: "I learned to respect others' feelings and beliefs, I rethought how I want to live my life, and I learned not to let hassles bother me the way they used to". Participants respond to each statement on a 3-point scale: '0' indicates not having experienced this at all, '1' indicates experienced this somewhat, and '2' indicates that the individual experienced this a great deal. The measure consists of one scale and scores are calculated as a sum of the items scores. Scores on the SRGS can range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicative of more posttraumatic growth. Author permission to use the SRGS is included in Appendix I.

The validity and reliability of the SRGS was tested by Park et al. (1996) using a large undergraduate sample. Through their analysis, they found that the retest reliability of the SRGS at a two-week follow-up was in a suitable range (r = .81). As well, the scale was significantly, though moderately, correlated with a single-item question about the extent of the individual's believed event-related growth (r = .46, p < .001). The internal consistency for the undergraduate population was .94. The internal consistency of the scale did fluctuate somewhat when the scale was used in different populations. In the analysis of elders by Park et al. (2005), internal consistency was found to be .91. Cronbach's alpha for the current sample was .97 indicating high reliability for the scale.

The Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations: Situation Specific Coping (CISS: SSC) developed by Endler and Parker (1999), measures coping strategies used in specific situations. The measure was adapted by the developers from the earlier Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations, which measures an individual's general coping style. The items included on the CISS: SSC are the CISS items that obtained the highest item-total correlations when tested in a large normative sample of college students. The CISS: SSC consists of 21 self report items that describe various coping strategies, such as: "Think about how I have solved similar problems (. . . .) Analyze the problem before reacting (. . . .) Phone a friend" (Endler & Parker, 1994, p. 60). Respondents indicate how much they use each coping strategy on a 5-point frequency rating scale ('1' indicating "not at all", and '5' indicating "very often") in relation to a specific event or situation. Instructions on how to complete the CISS: SSC can be found in Appendix B. Endler and Parker (1999) developed comparison norms related to a variety of stressors. Due to the fact that each

participant in this study was experiencing a different current stressor, the sum of the item scores was used in the present analysis.

Items on both the CISS and the CISS: SSC have been found to consistently represent three factors: task-focused coping, emotion-focused coping, and avoidance coping (Endler & Parker, 1994). On the CISS: SSC, 7 items represent each of the factors. For the present study, data was analyzed only related to the task-focused coping subscale of the CISS: SSC. The model of growth presented hypothesizes that growth will lead to more task-focused and problem-focused coping through increases in agency and feelings of control over their present situation (Benight & Bandura, 2004). Rumination also facilitates problem solving that is adaptive when coping with stressors (Watkins, 2008). Items from the CISS: SSC pertaining to emotion-focused and avoidance coping were also administered in order to complete a preliminary comparison of the coping variables. Data from these scales will also be used in future research. Moreover, by allowing respondents to indicate maladaptive coping strategies as well as adaptive ones, they were unlikely to be swayed to indicate using more task-focused coping.

Reliability and validity appears to be quite strong for the task-focused subscale. Within undergraduate populations, alpha coefficients for the task-focused subscale ranged from .78 to .87 (Endler, Kantor, & Parker, 1994; Endler & Parker, 1994; Endler, Speer, Johnson, & Flett, 2000; Reed, 2006). Within the current sample, Cronbach's alpha was found to be .81. Similar results were found for emotion-focused coping (Cronbach's alpha ranged from .80 to .86), but the avoidance coping subscale tended to have poorer reliability with values from .70 to .80 (Endler et al., 1994; Endler & Parker, 1994; Reed, 2006). Internal consistency in the present sample was .80 for emotion-focused coping and .69 for avoidance coping. The first item on the avoidance coping subscale (Take some time off and get away from the situation) appeared to have the lowest correlation with the sum of the other item scores (r = .16). When this item was removed from the subscale, reliability increased to .72, an acceptable value for Cronbach's alpha. All further analyses were completed using the more reliable 6-item scale. Moderate to high correlations were found when the three scales of the CISS: SSC were compared to the three scales of the original CISS, after removing overlapping items (Endler & Parker, 1994). Additionally, nonsignificant correlations were found between noncongruent coping styles. Whereas significant gender differences had been uncovered in the raw scores and reliability of the CISS, no such gender differences exist for the CISS: SSC (Endler et al., 1994).

The New General Self-Efficacy Scale (NGSES) developed by Chen, Gully, & Eden (2001) measures individuals' perceptions of their ability to perform across a variety of situations. The scale consists of eight items, each on a 5-point Likert scale (see Appendix C). Items include statements such as: I will be able to achieve most of the goals that I have set for myself, and when facing difficult tasks I am certain that I will accomplish them. Participants rate these statements from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Scores on the NGSES can range from 8 to 40, with higher scores indicating greater self-efficacy for the individual.

The developers' analysis of the reliability and validity of the NGSES produced acceptable results. They found that internal consistency over three administrations (two of which included undergraduate participants, one of which used a sample of business managers) was between .85 and .90. In the present sample, internal consistency was higher than in previous samples with an alpha value of .93. Retest reliability ranged from r = .62

to r = .67 within the undergraduate samples after a lapse of between 20 and 67 days. These values are lower than expected but may reflect changes in self-efficacy based on learning and mastery experiences (Snyder & Lopez, 2007). The sample of business managers obtained more consistent results, with a retest reliability of r = .86 after a period of two weeks. Furthermore, the scale consistently yielded a single self-efficacy component through principle components analysis, with alpha values between .85 and .87 (Chen et al., 2001). The psychometric properties of the NGSES were also analyzed by Scherbaum, Cohen-Charash, and Kern (2006). They compared three of the leading tests of self-efficacy and found the NGSES to be more valid and reliable than both the General Self-Efficacy Scale and the General Perceived Self-Efficacy Scale. The NGSES was significantly correlated with the two respective measures: r = .61 with the GSES, and r = .66 with the GPSES.

The Rumination Inventory (RI), developed by Calhoun, Cann, Tedeschi, and McMillan (2000), was used to assess the occurrence of ruminative thoughts related to the traumatic event. This scale is comprised of items from a variety of rumination and reflection inventories. The items reflect: intrusive thoughts related to the traumatic event, "Recently, thoughts about the event came to my mind and I could not get rid of them"; deliberate attempts to make sense of the event, "Recently, I have tried to make something good come out of my struggle"; and thoughts related to finding meaning in life. Of the 14 items within the scale, 7 items ask about thoughts shortly after the traumatic event, while 7 items focus on the occurrence of these thoughts within the past two weeks. Whereas thoughts about the traumatic at these two time points have been found to relate to posttraumatic growth, it is likely that only very recent thoughts would impact current coping strategies. By thinking about the traumatic event in the context of a current life stressor, lessons learned from past coping experiences can be generalized and applied to the new stressor. Therefore, only those items related to recent rumination were administered (see Appendix D for inventory items and Appendix J for author permission). It has been hypothesized that recent rumination facilitates problem-solving for current stressful events (Rivkin & Taylor, 1999). Though rumination at the time of the traumatic event contributes to growth, it is unlikely to directly affect response to current stress. Each item is rated on a 4-point scale, with '1' indicating 'not at all' and '4' indicating 'often' (Taku, Calhoun, et al., 2008). In an undergraduate sample in which participants had all experienced a traumatic event, Calhoun and colleagues (2000) found Cronbach's alpha to be .88 for the recent rumination scale. Internal consistency of the scale decreased slightly within the present sample, but was in the acceptable range with an alpha value of .74.

The Time Since Traumatic Event was indicated by the participants in the form of how many months had elapsed since the traumatic event that they experienced.

Demographic Information was collected using a short questionnaire. Information included gender, age, and program of study. Many of the participants were psychology majors or minors. It is possible that confounding variables, such as psychological mindedness, that accompany program of study could skew results. Therefore, psychology majors/minors were compared to non-psychology students to test for differences in PTG. Participants also indicated their socio-economic status by choosing a range that best describes their yearly family income from the following options: less than \$10 000, \$10 000 - 19 999, \$20 000 - 29 999, \$30 000 - 39 999, \$40 000 - 49 999, more than \$50 000. The demographic information items can be found in Appendix E.

Procedure

Individuals who were interested and eligible to participate in the study were directed to a website where they were first presented with a consent form. This form stated that all participation was voluntary and they were free to discontinue without penalty (see Appendix F). After the participant gave consent, he or she was first requested to think about a recent everyday stressful event and was asked to indicate what kind of event it was from a list provided (see Appendix B). He or she was presented with the CISS: SSC and asked to respond to the statements keeping this recent stressor in mind. After completion of this scale, participants were presented with the NGSES.

In the next portion of the study, participants were asked to think about their traumatic event. Exact instructions used are included in Appendix G. Participants were presented with examples of traumatic events and events that do not quality as traumas, similar to those seen in the participant pool description. They were asked to think about their own recent traumatic event and write a short description of the nature of the event. This slight retelling ensured that the event was fresh in their mind and the participants were not thinking of a compilation of events. Participants then indicated the number of months that had elapsed since the event and how much stress they experienced at the time of the trauma on a 7-point Likert scale. Participants completed both the Rumination Inventory and SRGS related to their experiences surrounding the traumatic event. Finally, participants responded to the demographic questions and indicated the extent of current stress due to thinking about their traumatic event. This analysis of current stress level was both to ensure that participants were not highly aroused at the completion of the study and to alert the participants to possible high stress levels related to their trauma.

Due to the sensitive nature of the experiences of participants, an increased effort was made through an information form (see Appendix H), presented at the completion of all measures, to ensure that participants did not feel long-lasting negative effects from the study. This form made participants aware of counselling services available to them in their area and at school that could assist them in coping with the traumatic events they have experienced and any ongoing problems that these events have caused. As well, the information form explained some of the important variables within the study, such as posttraumatic growth. Some interesting reading on posttraumatic growth was also recommended. These resources could assist individuals in their continued growth related to their difficult experiences.

CHAPTER IV

ANALYSIS OF RESULTS

Preliminary Review of Data

An initial review of the data was performed in SPSS version 17.0. A total of 204 cases were collected, but 11 were excluded casewise from the analysis due to incomplete or inadequate completion of the survey material. Incomplete cases comprised participants who completed less than 67% of the items on any given scale within the model. After these exclusions, there remained many participants with missing values for some scale items. In order to maximize sample size, summed averages were used for the scale scores instead of scale totals. In accordance with recent studies of PTG (Cann, Calhoun, Tedeschi, & Solomon, 2010), three participants who reported less than moderate stress levels at the time of the traumatic event (less than level 4 on the 7-point scale) were removed from the analysis. Since these individuals did not experience significant stress, any indication of growth following the trauma may be related to confounding factors.

Participants' responses on the time variable were analyzed at the onset of the data analysis. This value was extrapolated from and confirmed by the trauma description when possible. After extrapolation, an additional two cases were excluded from analysis because this variable was incomplete. It was found that 36 participants had experienced their trauma 6 months or less prior to completing the survey, whereas 4 had experienced their trauma more than 5 years ago. Of these latter 4 participants, one appeared to be an outlier having experienced their trauma 10 years ago. This case identified a multivariate outlier (Mahalanobis distance value was significant at p < .001) and was excluded from the data set. An ANOVA using the 187 remaining participants was conducted to determine whether the three time groups (less than, within, and beyond the designated timeframe) differed on any variable within the model. Results from this ANOVA were not significant with p > .05 for all analyses. Since no significant differences were found, the researcher decided to include participants who had experienced their trauma two or more months prior to completing the survey. This division allowed some time for participants to reflect on their experiences while still including as many participants as possible in order to preserve power. Twelve participants who experienced traumas one month or less before completing the survey were excluded at this time. All further analyses were completed using 175 participants, an adequate sample size as discussed in Kline (2005).

Researchers stated that task-focused coping is related to PTG, self-efficacy, and rumination. Preliminary correlation analyses were performed in order to test whether task-focused coping would be a valid outcome of the models presented, as compared to other forms of coping. Relations among the variables within the path model were compared across the three types of coping strategies measured by the CISS: SSC: task-focused, emotion-focused, and avoidance coping. Results can be found in Table 1. As predicted, task-focused coping was the only coping strategy significantly related to PTG and at least of the proposed mediating variables. Moreover, of the three subscales, only task-focused coping and avoidance coping were significantly correlated with one another (r = .26, p < .01), indicating that a CISS: SSC total score would not be an acceptable outcome variable. As such, all subsequent analyses focused solely on the task-focused coping strategies used by participants.

Table 1

	Task Coping	Emotion Coping	Avoidance Coping	
	(7 items)	(7 items)	(6 items)	
Mean	22.36	21.95	17.08	
Standard Deviation	5.05	5.67	4.80	
Time	04	07	.21**	
PTG	.24**	.13	.36**	
Self-Efficacy	.31**	30**	.06	
Rumination	.12	.13	.09	

Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations With Model Variables by Coping Subtype.

* Correlation significant at p < .05

** Correlation significant at p < .01

Traumatic Event and Current Stressful Experience

Participants reported experiencing a wide variety of traumatic events. Similar to previous research, the largest proportion of participants had experienced the death of a loved one in recent years (31.4%). Large percentages of participants had also experienced family illness (13.1%), family issues (11.4%), and relationship breakdown (9.1%). Other traumatic events included the participant's own illness (6.9%), work or school problems (6.3%), motor vehicle accident (4.0%), robbery (3.4%), being the victim of violence (3.4%), and other events that did not occur at high frequencies (5.7%). Approximately 5% of participants did not provide a description of their traumatic event.

The stressful event that participants were currently coping with also varied across the categories given. As could be expected among an undergraduate sample, 26.3% of participants reported a school-related problem. Problems with family members (21.1%) and problems with spouses or significant others (17.1%) were also common. Other stressors included financial problems (10.3%), health problems (10.3%), problems with friends (5.7%), work-related problems (3.4%), and other experiences (5.7%). Participants who were experiencing financial problems used task-focused coping strategies the most (M = 25.45, SD = 4.39), whereas those citing experiences that did not fit into a major category used task-focused coping strategies the least (M = 18.60, SD = 2.76).

Descriptive Statistics and Statistical Assumptions

Participants indicated high stress levels at the time of the trauma (Mean = 6.39, SD = .79, N = 175). At the completion of the survey, stress levels were generally moderate (Mean = 3.61, SD = 1.50, N = 171). Because most participants were psychology majors or minors (57.1%), there was concern that these individuals would respond differently than students in other disciplines, such as business, engineering, biology, social work, and human kinetics. A two-tailed comparison of group means was performed and no significant differences were found on any of the variables within the path models (p > .05 for all analyses). Therefore, psychology students did not respond differently than non-psychology students.

Means and standard deviations for the variables within the path models can be found in Table 2. Normality for each of the model variables was found to be within the normal range and skewness and kurtosis values were below the critical cut-off values (see Table 2). Histograms were also analyzed and found to be acceptable in shape. The assumption of multivariate normality was found to be slightly violated, with a kurtosis value of 1.60 (critical value 1.27). It should be noted that multivariate normality was greatly improved after removing the multivariate outlier mentioned previously (previous kurtosis value = 3.40, critical value = 2.69).

Table 2

Variable	Mean	Std Deviation	Skewness	Kurtosis
Time	25.95	17.97	.61	53
PTG	56.30	24.24	34	69
Rumination	19.40	3.92	26	12
Self-Efficacy	30.98	5.60	57	.45
Task Coping	22.36	5.05	14	15

Descriptive Statistics for All Model Variables (N = 175).

The mean growth score across participants was in the moderate range. When PTG was divided into a low PTG group (scores less than 34), a medium group, and a high PTG group (scores greater than 67), most participants reported at least moderate levels of growth. Specifically, 42% indicated medium growth, 39% indicated high growth levels, and 19% indicated low growth. Among the sample, only one participant responded 'not at all' to all of the items on the SRGS.

A correlation matrix including the five variables within the model showed some significant correlations between variables at p < .05. None of these correlations exceeded r = .80, therefore it can be concluded that no multicollinearity or singularity exists within

the variables. All correlation values can be found in Table 3. The significant correlations indicated that the relations among variables were linear. For those variables that were not significantly correlated with one another, scatterplots were created so they may be examined for any relations. The scatterplots confirmed that the variables appeared to be unrelated to one another, rather than containing a curvilinear relation.

Table 3

Variable	Time	PTG	Self-Efficacy	Rumination	Task Coping
Time		.06	.12	21**	04
PTG			.08	.41**	.24**
Self-Efficacy				19	.31**
Rumination					.12
Task Coping					

Correlations Between All Variables Within the Path Models.

** Correlation significant at p < .01

The assumption of independence of observations may have been compromised during data collection. The researcher only had enough information from 187 out of the 204 participants to award them participation marks. Therefore it is unknown whether a small portion of the participants completed the survey more than once or whether some new participants simply did not provide information to receive credit. Given the small number of cases where this problem could have occurred, it was decided that independence of observations could be assumed for this study.

Hypothesis Testing

The four path models were specified in AMOS 5 student version. All models were over identified, recursive, and included at least one exogenous variable. The individual hypothesized relations were then analyzed.

Hypothesis 1: PTG relates to more task-focused coping strategies. This direct relation was tested by models 2 through 4 and results were consistent across the three models ($\beta = .19, p < .05$). Therefore PTG was a significant direct predictor of task-focused coping.

Hypothesis 2: PTG relates to an increase in general self-efficacy. Models 3 and 4 both indicated that the path between PTG and self-efficacy was not significant (Model 3: $\beta = .08, p = .31$; Model 4: $\beta = .15, p = .87$). Moreover, no significant correlation was found between the two variables (r = .08, p > .05).

Hypothesis 3: Self-efficacy relates to the use of more task-focused coping strategies. Self-efficacy was a significant and relatively stable predictor of coping strategies across models 2, 3, and 4 (p < .001, see Figures 1 through 3 for exact standardized regression weights).

Hypothesis 4: PTG relates to an increase in rumination. Both models 3 and 4 found the direct relation between PTG and rumination to be significant ($\beta = .42, p < .001$). Model 2 also indicated that the correlation between these variables was quite strong (see Figure 1).

Hypothesis 5: Ruminative thought frequency decreases with time. Models 3 and 4 indicated that the relation between rumination and time since the trauma was significant with $\beta = -.24$, p < .001. The combination of the influence of time since the trauma and amount of PTG presented in models 3 and 4 accounted for 23.6% of the variance in rumination.

Hypothesis 6: Rumination relates to more task-focused coping. This direct relation between rumination and coping was found to be nonsignificant among models 2, 3, and 4 with standardized regression weights for all three models of $\beta = .08$, p > .05.

Hypothesis 7: Rumination relates to increased self-efficacy. When the path between rumination and self-efficacy was added in model 4, it was found to be significant ($\beta = -.17$, p < .05). Contrary to the hypotheses, this significant relation was inverse, indicating that increases in rumination predicted decreased self-efficacy.

Further direct analysis of the mediating roles of self-efficacy and rumination were not completed. The nonsignificant relations between self-efficacy and PTG and between rumination and task-focused coping indicated that neither variable could significantly mediate the relation between PTG and task-focused coping. Therefore, evaluation of the roles of these variables in the process from growth to coping depended primarily on results from model comparison and analysis.

The four models were compared with one another using fit indices, results of which are presented in Table 4. Hoelter's critical *N* confirmed that the sample size was adequate to test all models but the null model, as the value obtained for models 2 through 4 exceeded the recommended value of 200 (see Table 4 for exact values). Model 1 (the null model) was easily rejected considering its significant chi-square value and fit indices well outside the appropriate range. The three remaining models fairly consistently predicted 15.0-15.6% of the variance in task-focused coping. Models 2, 3, and 4 all had adequate values on the fit indices. Model 4 appeared to have the best performance across all fit indices, followed by model 2 and then model 3. These values indicate that model 4 was superior to the other

models, but this advantage may not be large enough to warrant the dismissal of the other models, model 2 in particular.

Table 4

χ^2	df	χ^2/df	NFI	CFI	AGFI	RMSEA	Hoelter
(N=175)		(< 2.0)	(>.90)	(> .95)	(>.90)	(<.10)	(<i>p</i> = .05)
81.022*	10	8.1			.78	.20	40
						(90%CI: .1624)	
4.181	3	1.4	.95	.98	.95	.05	326
						(90%CI: .0014)	
7.064	4	1.8	.91	.96	.94	.07	234
						(90%CI: .0015)	
2.907	3	1.0	.96	1.00	.97	.00	468
						(90%CI: .0013)	
	χ^2 (N = 175) 81.022* 4.181 7.064 2.907	$\chi^{2} df$ (N = 175) 81.022* 10 4.181 3 7.064 4 2.907 3	χ^2 df χ^2/df $(N = 175)$ (< 2.0)	χ^2 df χ^2/df NFI $(N = 175)$ (< 2.0)	χ^2 df χ^2/df NFICFI $(N = 175)$ (< 2.0)	χ^2 df χ^2/df NFICFIAGFI $(N = 175)$ (< 2.0)	χ^2 df χ^2/df NFICFIAGFIRMSEA $(N = 175)$ (< 2.0)

Fit Indices for Four Path Models (Including Fit Criteria).

* Significant at p < .001

Exploratory Analyses

Based on the significant paths that were found during data analysis, an exploratory model was created. Direct paths that were consistently found to be nonsignificant were removed from the path model. A visual representation of the model is included in Figure 4. Further research is needed to test the fit of this model with different samples and populations.



Figure 4. Exploratory model based on significant relations within the hypothesized models.

Results from the initial analysis of the impact of rumination indicated both positive and negative effects. An exploratory analysis was performed by separating items on the rumination scale in two subscales: deliberate rumination (4 items) and intrusive rumination (3 items). Correlations between these two rumination scales and the other model variables were computed to examine the differential effects of each type of rumination. Consistent with the full scale, both intrusive and deliberate rumination were positively related to growth and negatively correlated with time since the event (see Table 5). Moreover, deliberate rumination was positively correlated with task-focused coping (r = .20, p < .01), while intrusive rumination was not (p = .87). Intrusive rumination was found to be negatively correlated with ratings of self-efficacy (r = ..17, p < .05). No such significant relation existed with deliberate coping (p = .65). All correlation values and significance can be found in Table 5.

Table 5

Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations With Model Variables by Rumination Subtype.

Intrusive Rumination	Deliberate Rumination
8.68	10.72
1.95	2.51
23**	15*
.27**	.44**
17*	04
01	.20**
	Intrusive Rumination 8.68 1.95 23** .27** 17* 01

* Correlation significant at p < .05

** Correlation significant at p < .01

The two rumination scales were correlated with one another at a significance level of p < .001. Yet, the correlation was not high enough to conclude that the two scales measured a single construct (r = .54). While this may lend support for the idea that the rumination scale should be divided into deliberate and intrusive ruminative thoughts, the internal consistency of each of these subscales was quite low (.58 and .66 respectively). Combined, the scales elicited an acceptable Cronbach's alpha of .74. Therefore, there is

not sufficient consistency among the items on the intrusive subscale and the deliberate subscale to allow for their separate use in complex analyses.

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION

The Current Study

The purpose of the present study was to explore the relation between growth following a traumatic event and the use of task-focused coping strategies when faced with stressful life events months and years after the trauma. Many studies have shown that benefits are possible following trauma and extremely high levels of stress, but few have focused directly on the practical outcomes that growth can incur. The current study looked specifically at this relationship among undergraduate students who had experienced traumatic events within recent years. The goal of this study was not only to confirm past findings about the relation between these two variables, but also to explore mediating variables that may explain the mechanisms through which growth affects coping behavior. Self-efficacy and rumination were proposed as mediators due to their associations with active coping attempts and problem-solving behavior respectively.

Preliminary Analyses

Traumatic events appear to occur at a consistent rate among undergraduate students and these events cause high levels of stress. Of the participants who completed the study, only three had to be excluded due to low stress levels at the time of the trauma. Moreover, the high stress levels found within the present sample were consistent with studies of similar populations (Cann et al., 2010). The undergraduate sample also exhibited mean rates of PTG comparable to studies by Park, Mills-Baxter, and Fenster (2005) and Roesch, Rowley, and Vaughn (2004). Over 80% of participants indicated at least moderate levels of growth, indicating that the sample in this study was more open to experiences of growth than many previous samples (e.g. Milam, Ritt-Olson, & Unger, 2004). Rumination rates within the past two weeks for participants were slightly higher than in past research (Calhoun et al, 2000). More rumination within this sample could be related to the amount of time that has elapsed since the trauma, in that on average this sample experienced their trauma just over two years prior to completing the study. The study sample could also still be in the process of working through their traumatic events and they may continue to experience growth after completing the study. Participants appear to have similar levels of self-efficacy as the samples used by Chen and colleagues (2001) when validating their scale. As well, participants used task-focused coping strategies at a similar rate as participants in studies by Endler, Kantor, and Parker (1994) and Reed (2006). Overall, the participants within the study appear to be similar to samples used in past research and results may be generalizable to the larger population of undergraduate students who have experienced traumatic events.

Direct Relations between Variables

Contrary to previous research, variables within the path models were not all found to be correlated, and overall correlations were quite low. Research by Park, Mills-Baxter, and Fenster (2005) and others have examined the direct relationship between PTG and coping strategies. The present study confirmed this link, yet the relation was not as strong as originally expected. It appears that there are many other factors that influence what types of coping strategies are used when faced with stress. For example, the present study did not control for the type of stressor that participants were currently coping with. It is possible that some participants failed to use task-focused coping strategies because they would not have been adaptive in their present stressful situation. According to theories of copingenvironment fit (Folkman & Moskowitz, 2004), if individuals felt that they had little control over the situation, they would be unlikely to use task-focused coping strategies. Instead, emotion-focused coping would be more adaptive as it would change one's views about the situation, rather than the situation itself. Therefore, situation-coping fit may have overshadowed the impact that PTG had on the use of task-focused coping strategies.

The positive changes experienced as part of PTG were hypothesized to be related to the personal benefits associated with high self-efficacy. This relation had been found to be significant in previous research (see Linley & Joseph, 2004; Tedeschi et al., 1998), but these findings were not corroborated in the current study. It was thought that after individuals experienced some personal growth, they would have a more positive view of themselves and what they are capable of doing, but this may not be the case. It is possible that the 'positive view of self' aspect of PTG is closer to a 'better understanding of the self' that includes acceptance of both strengths and weaknesses (Roesch et al., 2004). Therefore, increases in self-efficacy would not necessarily be tied to this personal growth. Some individuals may realize that they have little control over their environments and begin to come to terms with this fact while incorporating it into their self-concept. It is questionable then how beneficial PTG is in making individuals feel better about themselves and their lives. Moreover, an improved sense of self may not be the mechanism through which individuals are able to feel more confident in their coping strategies in order to use more action-based coping.

The present study was able to confirm previous research that self-efficacy independently impacts the use of task-focused coping strategies. This finding is consistent with work by Shen (2008). It is logical that as one feels more control over the environment and his or her own life, as is the case with high self-efficacy, they would be more willing to employ strategies that require them to take action within their surroundings (Benight & Bandura, 2004). These findings are consistent with the agentic model of adaptation offered by Benight and Bandura (2004). According to this model within social cognitive theory, "individuals play a proactive role in their adaptation, rather than simply undergo experiences in which environmental stressors act on their personal vulnerabilities" (Benight & Bandura, 2004, p. 1133). Individuals are not reactive, but rather proactive and use their personal and situation resources to increase agency within stressful situations.

The topic of rumination has been of interest to PTG researchers in recent years (Taku, Calhoun, et al., 2008). The present study found a strong relationship between experiences of personal growth following a trauma and thinking about the traumatic event. These findings support the cognitive processing model of PTG proposed by Tedeschi and Calhoun (2004). Within this model, rumination is necessary for growth to occur. Initially, ruminative thoughts have an intrusive quality. Individuals must work through and face these thoughts in order to manage their intrusive nature. Slowly, the emotional distress associated with the rumination decreases and individuals can ruminate deliberately and reflectively on their traumatic event. Self-concept and assumptions of the world are now able to adapt to the individual's new reality.

Whereas researchers have cited that rumination can assist the process of growth, it appears that rumination does not lead to positive changes in self-efficacy or coping. The

present study found no relationship between rumination and task-focused coping. Whereas rumination has been linked to thoughts focused on problem solving (Watkins, 2008), these thoughts do not necessarily translate into coping behaviours in everyday life. Regarding self-efficacy, increased rumination was significantly related to decreased self-efficacy within the sample. Previous research has stated that those with lower self-efficacy have more difficulty experiencing growth following a trauma (Joseph & Linley, 2004). These individuals may therefore ruminate more about their traumatic event in order to find meaning within the event. Conversely, the act of rumination after trauma may take on qualities of habitual negative self-thinking (Watkins, 2008). These thoughts may then focus individual attention on negative aspects of self which inhibit efficacy feelings. It is impossible to confirm these causal relations based on the current research, but future research may help to clarify the inverse relations between rumination and self-efficacy.

Recent research has indicated that the positive and negative outcomes of rumination are difficult to separate. Cann and colleagues (2010) have attempted to further differentiate the effects of deliberate and intrusive rumination related to a past trauma. While deliberate thoughts were related to increased growth, intrusive thoughts had the inverse relation. Preliminary analyses of the different forms of rumination in the present sample indicated that both deliberate and intrusive rumination were positively related to PTG. Yet, only intrusive thought was negatively related to self-efficacy ratings. Therefore, the intrusive rumination described in the current study was the primary aspect of rumination impacting self-efficacy. Once the different forms of rumination and task-focused coping. These results must be interpreted with caution due to the poor reliability of the separate rumination subscales. The benefit of different aspects of ruminative thought must be researched further and weighed against any negative consequences that focusing on a negative event may bring. Future research should also aim to create a rumination scale with improved reliability and validity. It is positive to note that rumination did decrease with time, providing support for the idea presented by Tedeschi, Park, and Calhoun (1998) that as individuals come to terms with their trauma they focus on it less and it consumes less of their energy on an everyday basis.

Comparison of Path Models

The relations between PTG and task-focused coping were evaluated by creating and testing four path models. The hypothesized models predicted PTG to positively influence the use of task-focused coping in later stressful events. This relationship was expected to be mediated by self-efficacy and rumination about the traumatic event. The alternative hypothesis (model 4), in which rumination was also hypothesized to impact self-efficacy, was found to adequately fit the data collected, though not all paths were significant. Individuals who experienced personal growth following a traumatic event utilized more task-focused coping strategies when faced with stressful life events. These individuals also experienced an increase in rumination about the traumatic event, though this rumination decreased with time. Rumination was negatively related to feelings of self-efficacy, increases in which led to greater use of task-focused coping.

When comparing models, the model described performed best on all fit indices, but both models 2 and 3 also exceeded critical cut-off points for these indices. The inclusion of a relation between rumination and self-efficacy as seen in model 2 and model 4 did improve model fit, warranting the rejection of model 3. Yet, the minimal difference between models 2 and 4 made it difficult to reject model 2 in favour of model 4. As indicated by the many nonsignificant paths within the models, it is probable that the addition of new variables and the restructuring of the models based on these results would elicit clearer information about the relationship between PTG and coping and allow for the creation of a superior model. Based on the significant relations found between variables, a new model was proposed (see Figure 4). Future researchers are encouraged to test this exploratory model with both undergraduate samples and the general population in order to evaluate its validity.

Limitations and Future Directions

Previous research has shown that undergraduate students experience PTG at the same rate as adults in a non-university setting (Park, Cohen, & Murch, 1996), yet the use of this population may have skewed results and restricts the generalizability of results to other populations. More women than men participated in the study, accurately reflecting the proportion of females to males in undergraduate psychology courses, and the average age of participants was quite low. Gender differences have been inconstant among research on PTG, but women generally experience slightly higher PTG than men, and this difference tends to increase with age (Vishnevsky et al., 2010). As well, all participants were enrolled in a psychology course at the time of survey completion, which could have created a sample of psychologically minded individuals. Information was not collected regarding ethnicity of the participants. Though PTG appears to exist within many varying cultures, measures of PTG and the theories surrounding the benefits of growth are based in Western

culture and beliefs. Therefore, participants raised in collectivist societies may view growth in different ways and growth may relate differently to later behaviour (Splevins, Cohen, Bowley, & Joseph, 2010). Future research should look into how culture affects the relations shown in the present study.

Data were collected from 204 participants, but the data analysis was completed using only 175 of those participants. It is possible that by excluding 29 participants that data were altered in some way. As well, by reducing the number of participants in the study, there may have been a reduction in power for the analyses performed. Participants in this study experienced many different kinds of both current stressors and traumatic life events. Many previous studies have looked at specific traumas in order to analyze a more cohesive sample, for example bereaved parents (Polatinsky & Esprey, 2000), hurricane survivors (Cieslak et al., 2009; Cryder et al., 2006), or breast cancer patients (Lelorain et al., 2010). Research on the relationship between PTG and coping within victims of only one form of trauma would be interesting, particularly if only one form of current stressor was also used. This research could highlight event characteristics that may mediate or moderate the relationships found in the current study as well as control for copingenvironment fit.

The models being tested were all very similar to each other in that they included the same variables and many similar paths between those variables. By comparing models with varied paths, researchers may be able to more clearly define which variables have a significant impact on task-related coping behaviour. These models represented only a small portion of the possible models that could be created using PTG, self-efficacy, rumination, time since the event, and task-focused coping behaviour. Whereas this study found two

models that adequately fit the data, there could be other untested models that more efficiently and accurately predict coping behaviour post-trauma. Further studies testing different models with the same variables would be valuable. Moreover, though the statistical design used within this study implied causality, causality cannot be inferred from the results due to the correlational nature of the research. An experimental design would be beneficial to test for causality, yet may be unethical if the infliction of trauma was part of the design. Conversely, longitudinal research could better examine causality without additional negative effects.

The addition of other variables may help to further clarify the relations discussed within this study. For example, personality variables beyond self-efficacy may moderate the relation between PTG and coping. It would be beneficial to see whether adding optimism or self-esteem to the model would add any predictive value. Recovering from trauma has also been found to be related to religion and spirituality (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 1995). These constructs could explain some variance in coping as well. As previously mentioned, recent research on rumination has found both positive and negative relations with PTG. Research should be performed to see which aspects of rumination impact self-efficacy and coping behaviour. For the present study, task-focused coping in particular was used as the outcome variable due to its significant relation to self-efficacy and similar aspects of growth (Aldwin, 2007). It would be interesting to discover how the hypothesized model would perform if it were used to predict other forms of coping such as emotion-focused coping and avoidant coping and what changes to this model would improve fit.

Implications

This study presents many implications for individuals who have faced traumatic events. Though PTG is beneficial for the individual and can reduce stress, it only has weak relationships with the ability to confidently and actively cope with later life stressors. When victims of trauma also gain a sense of efficacy surrounding their actions and their ability to cope, their positive feelings about themselves are more likely to translate into action-based cognitions and behaviours in the real world. Therapists and counsellors who work with victims of trauma should keep these relationships in mind and work towards instilling agency and efficacy beliefs within their clients above and beyond the improved perceptions of self that occur during PTG. For example, by focusing on previous mastery experiences in which individuals have coped successfully, either with a trauma or with other stressors, counsellors can strengthen positive beliefs about the self and encourage adaptive coping in the future.

Therapists should also be aware that increases in growth can occur alongside increases in ruminative thought following a trauma. While this rumination can help to work through the traumatic event, it can also be related to reduced self-efficacy. Steps must be taken to ensure that rumination after trauma maintains a positive and reflective nature and does not lead to global and general negative self thoughts, particularly as time since the trauma elapses. By receiving support and positive feedback about reactions to the past trauma, individuals may also learn to adopt more adaptive and active coping strategies when dealing with current stressors, at the same time feeling confident in their ability to cope with stress.

Conclusion

After experiencing a traumatic event, some individuals can undergo a process of growth called posttraumatic growth (PTG). This study explored the practical benefits of growth in terms of its relation to task-focused coping after the trauma. Among undergraduate students, this type of personal growth was related to the use of more task-focused coping strategies when faced with everyday stressful events. Increases in PTG were associated with increases in ruminative thought related to the traumatic event, which had a negative association with feelings of efficacy and agency. In spite of the negative impact of rumination, self-efficacy beliefs encouraged individuals to utilize active, task-focused coping during stressful situations. Health care professionals must understand the complex associations between personal growth following trauma and both positive and negative correlates. Though traumatic events can be overwhelmingly difficult, by working through the pain and seeking meaning individuals may experience benefits beyond their current situation for many years to come.

REFERENCES

Abraído-Lanza, A. F., Guier, C., & Colón, R. M. (1998). Psychological thriving among Latinas with chronic illness. *Journal of Social Issues, 54*, 405-424. doi:

10.1111/0022-4537.741998074

- Aldwin, C. A. (2007). Stress, Coping, and Development: An Integrative Perspective (2nd ed.). New York: The Guilford Press.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Posttraumatic stress disorder. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (4th ed. text revision, pp. 463-468).
 Washington, DC: Author.
- Bandura, A. (2000). Self-efficacy: The foundation of agency. In W. J. Perrig & A. Grob (Eds.), Control of Human Behavior, Mental Processes, and Consciousness: Essays in Honor of the 60th Birthday of August Flammer (pp. 17-33). Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Benight, C. C. & Bandura, A. (2004). Social cognitive theory of posttraumatic recovery:
 The role of perceived self-efficacy. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 42(10), 1129-1148. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2003.08.008
- Bryant, R. A. & Harvey, A. G. (1995). Avoidant coping style and post-traumatic stress
 following motor vehicle accidents. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *33*, 631-635.
 doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(94)00093-Y
- Butler, L. D. (2007). Growing pains: Commentary on the field of posttraumatic growth and Hobfoll and colleagues' recent contributions to it. *Applied Psychology: An International Review, 56*, 367-378. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00293.x

- Burwell, R. A. & Shirk, S. R. (2007). Subtypes of rumination in adolescence: Associations between brooding, reflection, depressive symptoms, and coping. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, 36*, 56-65. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp3601_6
- Calhoun, L. G., Cann, A., Tedeschi, R. G., & McMillan, J. (2000). A correlational test of the relationship between posttraumatic growth, religion, and cognitive processing. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 13*, 521-527. doi: 10.1023/A:1007745627077
- Cann, A., Calhoun, L. G., Tedeschi, D. T., & Solomon, D. T. (2010). Posttraumatic growth and depreciation as independent experiences and predictors of well-being. *Journal* of Loss and Trauma, 15, 151-166. doi: 10.1080/15325020903375826
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56, 267-283. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.56.2.267
- Chen, G., Gully, S. M., & Eden, D. (2001). Validation of a new general self-efficacy scale. *Organizational Research Methods*, *4*, 62-83. doi: 10.1177/109442810141004
- Cieslak, R., Benight, C., Schmidt, N., Luszczynska, A., Curtin, E., Clark, R. A., et al.
 (2009). Predicting posttraumatic growth among Hurricane Katrina survivors living with HIV: The role of self-efficacy, social support, and PTSD symptoms. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping: An International Journal, 22*(4), 449-463. doi: 10.1080/10615800802403815
- Cryder, C. H., Kilmer, R. P., Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2006). An exploratory study of posttraumatic growth in children following a natural disaster. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 76, 65-69. doi: 10.1037/0002-9432.76.1.65

- Dirik, G. & Kuranci, A. N. (2008). Variables related to posttraumatic growth in Turkish rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 15, 193-203. doi: 10.1007/s10880-008-9115-x
- Dolbier, C. L., Jaggars, S. S., & Steinhardt, M. A. (2010). Stress-related growth: Preintervention correlates and change following a resilience intervention. *Stress and Health, 26*, 135-147. doi: 10.1002/smi.1275
- Endler, N. S., Kantor, L., & Parker, J. D. A. (1994). State-trait coping, state-trait anxiety and academic performance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 16, 663-670. doi: 10.1016/0191-8869(94)90208-9
- Endler, N. S. & Parker, J. D. A. (1994). Assessment of multidimensional coping: Task, emotion, and avoidance strategies. *Psychological Assessment*, 6, 50-60. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.6.1.50
- Endler, N. S. & Parker, J. D. A. (1999). *CISS: Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations Manual* (2nd ed.). Toronto: Multi-Health Systems.
- Endler, N. S., Speer, R. L., Johnson, J. M., & Flett, G. L. (2000). Controllability, coping, efficacy, and distress. *European Journal of Personality*, 14, 245-264. doi: 10.1002/1099-0984(200005/06)14:3<245::AID-PER375>3.0.CO;2-G
- Folkman, S. & Lazarus, R. S. (1980). An analysis of coping in a middle-aged community sample. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour, 21*, 219-239. doi: 10.2307/2136617
- Folkman, S. & Moskowitz, J. T. (2004). Coping: Pitfalls and promise. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *55*, 745-774. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141456
- Hall, B. J., Hobfoll, S. E., Canetti, D., Johnson, R. J., & Galea, S. (2009). The defensive nature of benefit finding during ongoing terrorism: An examination of a national sample of Israeli Jews. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 28(8), 993-1021. doi: 10.1521/jscp.2009.28.8.993
- Ho, S. M. Y., Chu, K. W., & Yiu, Jessie (2008). The relationship between explanatory style and posttraumatic growth after bereavement in a non-clinical sample. *Death Studies, 32*, 461-478. doi: 10.1080/07481180801974760
- Kahana, B. (1992). Late-life adaptation in the aftermath of extreme stress. In M. Wykel, E.Kahana, & J. Kowal (Eds.), *Stress and Health Among the Elderly* (pp. 5-34). New York: Springer.
- Kline, R, B. (2005). *Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling* (2nd ed.). New York: Guilford Press.
- Lee, V., Cohen, S. R., Edgar, L., Laizner, A. M., & Gagnon, A. J. (2006). Meaning-making intervention during breast or colorectal cancer treatment improves self-esteem, optimism, and self-efficacy. *Social Science & Medicine*, *62*, 3133-3145. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.11.041
- Lelorain, S., Bonnaud-Antignac, A., & Florin, A. (2010). Long term posttraumatic growth after breast cancer: Prevalence, predictors and relationships with psychological health. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings, 17*, 14-22. doi: 10.1007/s10880-009-9183-6
- Levine, S. Z., Laufer, A., Stein, E., Hamama-Raz, Y., & Solomon, Z. (2009). Examining the relationship between resilience and posttraumatic growth. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 22*(4), 282-286. doi: 10.1002/jts.20409

- Linley, P. A. & Joseph, S. (2004). Positive change following trauma and adversity: A review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 17, 11-21. doi: 10.1023/B:JOTS.0000014671.27856.7e
- Lowe, R., Cockshott, Z., Greenwood, R., Kirwan, J. R., Almeida, C., Richards, P., et al. (2008). Self-efficacy as an appraisal that moderates the coping-emotion relationship: Associations among people with rheumatoid arthritis. *Psychology and Health, 23*, 155-174. doi: 10.1080/14768320601139160
- Lurie-Beck, J. K., Liossis, P., & Gow, K. (2008). Relationships between
 psychopathological and demographic variables and posttraumatic growth among
 Holocaust survivors. *Traumatology*, 14(3), 28-39. doi: 10.1177/1534765608320338
- Luszczynska, A., Mohamed, N. E., & Schwarzer, R. (2005). Self-efficacy and social support predict benefit finding 12 months after cancer surgery: The mediating role of coping strategies. *Psychology, Health & Medicine, 10*(4), 365-375. doi: 10.1080/13548500500093738
- Matthews, E. E. & Cook, P. F. (2009). Relationships among optimism, well-being, selftranscendence, coping, and social support in women during treatment for breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology*, 18, 716-726. doi: 10.1002/pon.1461
- Milam, J. E., Ritt-Olson, A., & Unger, J. B. (2004). Posttraumatic growth among adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 19(2), 192-204. doi: 10.1177/0743558403258273
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. & Morrow, J. (1991). A prospective study of depression and posttraumatic stress symptoms after a natural disaster: The 1989 Loma Prieta

earthquake. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 61*, 115-121. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.61.1.115

Pargament, K. I., Koenig, H. G., & Perez, L. (2000). The many methods of religious coping: Developmental and initial validation of the RCOPE. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 56, 519-543. doi:

10.1002/(SICI)1097-4679(200004)56:4<519::AID-JCLP6>3.0.CO;2-1

- Park, C. L. (2006). Exploring relations among religiousness, meaning, and adjustment to lifetime and current stressful encounter in later life. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping.* 19(1), 33-45. doi: 10.1080/10615800600581259
- Park. C. L., Cohen, L. H., & Murch, R. L. (1996). Assessment and prediction of stressrelated growth. *Journal of Personality*, 64, 71-105. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1996.tb00815.x
- Park, C. L. & Fenster, J. R. (2004). Stress-related growth: Predictors of occurrence and correlates with psychological adjustment. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 23*, 195-215. doi: 10.1521/jscp.23.2.195.31019
- Park, C. L., Mills-Baxter, M. A., & Fenster, J. R. (2005). Post-traumatic growth from life's most traumatic event: Influences on elders' current coping and adjustment.
 Traumatology, 11, 297-306. doi: 10.1177/153476560501100408
- Polatinsky, S. & Esprey, Y. (2000). An assessment of gender differences in the perception of benefit finding from the loss of a child. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 13*, 709-718. doi: 10.1023/A:1007870419116

- Prati, G. & Pietrantoni, L. (2009). Optimism, social support, and coping strategies as factors contributing to posttraumatic growth: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Loss and Trauma, 14*, 364-388. doi: 10.1080/15325020902724271
- Reed, C. A. (2006). The relationships among neuroticism, dysfunctional career thoughts, and coping strategies. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 66, 11A. (UMI No. 3198249).
- Riley, L. P., LaMontagne, L. L., Hepworth, J. T., & Murphy, B. A. (2007). Parental grief responses and personal growth following the death of a child. *Death Studies*, *31*, 277-299. doi: 10.1080/07481180601152591
- Rivkin, I. D. & Taylor, S. E. (1999). The effects of mental simulation on coping with controllable stressful events. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 25(12), 1451-1462. doi: 10.1177/01461672992510002
- Roesch, S. C., Rowley, A. N. A., & Vaughn, A. A. (2004). On the dimensionality of the Stress-Related Growth Scale: One, three, or seven factors? *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 82, 281-290. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa8203_04
- Scherbaum, C. A., Cohen-Charash, Y., & Kern, M. J. (2006). Measuring general selfefficacy: A comparison of three measures using item response theory.
 Psychological Measurement, 66, 1047-1063. doi: 10.1177/0013164406288171
- Schnider, K. R., Elhai, J. D., & Gray, M. J. (2007). Coping style use predicts posttraumatic stress and complicated grief symptom severity among college students reporting a traumatic loss. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *54*, 344-350. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.54.3.344

Segerstrom, S. C., Stanton, A. L., Alden, L. E., & Shortridge, B. E. (2003). A multidimensional structure for repetitive thought: What's on your mind, and how, and how much? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *85*, 909-921. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.5.909

- Shen, Y. E. (2009). Relationships between self-efficacy, social support and stress coping strategies in Chinese primary and secondary school teachers. *Stress and Health*, 25, 129-138. doi: 10.1002/smi.1229
- Smith, R. E. (1999). Generalization effects in coping skills training. Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 21, 189-204.
- Snyder, C. R. & Lopez, S. L. (2007). Positive Psychology: The Scientific and Practical Explorations of Human Strengths. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Sorlie, T. & Sexton, H. C. (2001). Predictors of the process of coping in surgical patients. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 30, 947-960. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00085-4

- Splevins, K., Cohen, K., Bowley, J., & Joseph, S. (2010). Theories of posttraumatic growth: Cross-cultural perspectives. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 15, 259-277. doi: 10.1080/15325020903382111
- Taku, K., Calhoun, L. G., Cann, A., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2008). The role of rumination in the coexistence of distress and posttraumatic growth among bereaved Japanese university students. *Death Studies*, 32, 428-444. doi: 10.1080/07481180801974745
- Taku, K., Cann, A., Calhoun, L. G., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2008). The factor structure of the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory: A comparison of five models using confirmatory factor analysis. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 21, 158-164. doi: 10.1002/jts.20305

- Taku, K., Cann, A., Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2009). Intrusive versus deliberate rumination in posttraumatic growth across US and Japanese samples. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping, 22*, 129-136. doi: 10.1080/10615800802317841
- Tang, C. S. (2007). Posttraumatic growth of Southeast Asian survivors with physical injuries: Six months after the 2004 Southeast Asian earthquake-tsunami. *The Australasian Journal of Disaster and Trauma Studies, 2007*. Retrieved May 5, 2010, from http://www.massey.ac.nz/~trauma/issues/2007-1/tang.htm
- Tedeschi, R. G. & Calhoun, L. G. (1995). *Trauma and Transformation: Growing in the Aftermath of Suffering*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Tedeschi, R. G. & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). Posttraumatic growth: Conceptual foundations and empirical evidence. *Psychological Inquiry*, 15(1), 1-18. doi: 10.1207/s15327965pli1501 01
- Tedeschi, R. G., Calhoun, L. G., & Cann, A. (2007). Evaluating resource gain:
 Understanding and misunderstanding posttraumatic growth. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 56(3), 396-406. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00299.x
- Tedeschi, R. G., Park, C. L., & Calhoun, L. G. (Eds.); (1998). Posttraumatic Growth: Positive Changes in the Aftermath of Crisis. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Trouillet, R., Gana, K., Lourel, M., & Fort, I. (2009). Predictive value of age for coping:
 The role of self-efficacy, social support satisfaction and perceived stress. *Aging & Mental Health*, *13*(3), 357-366. doi: 10.1080/13607860802626223

Van Ameringen, M., Mancini, C., Patterson, B., & Boyle, M. H. (2008). Post-traumatic stress disorder in Canada. CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics, 14(3), 171-181. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-5949.2008.00049.x

Vishnevsky, T., Cann, A., Calhoun, L. G., Tedeschi, R. G., & Demakis, G. J. (2010).
Gender differences in self-reported posttraumatic growth: A meta-analysis. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 34,* 110-120. doi:
10.1111/j.1471-6402.2009.01546.x

- Wadsworth, M. E., Gudmundsen, G. R., Raviv, T., Ahlkvist, J. A., McIntosh, D. N., Kline, G., et al. (2004). Coping with terrorism: Age and gender differences in effortful and involuntary responses to September 11th. *Applied Developmental Science*, *8*, 143-157. doi: 10.1207/s1532480xads0803 4
- Watkins, E. R. (2008). Constructive and Unconstructive Repetitive Thought. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(2), 163-206. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.134.2.163
- Wilson, J. T. & Boden, J. M. (2008). The effects of personality, social support and religiosity on posttraumatic growth. *The Australasian Journal of Disaster and Trauma Studies, 2008.* Retrieved May 5, 2010, from http://www.massey.ac.nz/~trauma/issues/2008-1/wilson.htm

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Stress-Related Growth Scale

Please respond to each item on the following scale: "0" (not at all), "1" (somewhat), or "2" (a great deal).

0	1	2
Not at all	Somewhat	A great deal

Because of the event that I experienced...

1. I developed new relationships with helpful others.

2. I gained new knowledge about the world.

3. I learned that I was stronger than I thought I was.

4. I became more accepting of others.

5. I realized I have a lot to offer other people.

6. I learned to respect others' feelings and beliefs.

7. I learned to be nicer to others.

8. I rethought how I want to live my life.

9. I learned that I want to accomplish more in life.

10. My life now has more meaning and satisfaction.

11. I learned to look at things in a more positive way.

12. I learned better ways to express my feelings.

13. I learned that there is a reason for everything.

14. I developed/increased my faith in God.

15. I learned not to let hassles bother me the way they used to.

16. I learned to take more responsibility for what I do.

17. I learned to live for today, because you never know what will happen tomorrow.

18. I don't take most things for granted anymore.

19. I developed/increased my trust in God.

20. I feel freer to make my own decisions.

21. I learned that I have something of value to teach others about life.

22. I understand better how God allows things to happen.

- 23. I learned to appreciate the strength of others who have had a difficult life.
- 24. I learned not to "freak out" when a bad thing happens.
- 25. I learned to think more about the consequences of my actions.
- 26. I learned to get less angry about things.
- 27. I learned to be a more optimistic person.
- 28. I learned to approach life more calmly.
- 29. I learned to be myself and not try to be what others want me to be.
- 30. I learned to accept myself as less than perfect.
- 31. I learned to take life more seriously.
- 32. I learned to work through problems and not just give up.
- 33. I learned to find more meaning in life.
- 34. I changed my life goals for the better.
- 35. I learned how to reach out and help others.
- 36. I learned to be a more confident person.
- 37. I learned not to take my physical health for granted.
- 38. I learned to listen more carefully when others talk to me.
- 39. I learned to be open to new information and ideas.
- 40. I now better understand why, years ago, my parents said/did certain things.
- 41. I learned to communicate more honestly with others.
- 42. I learned to deal better with uncertainty
- 43. I learned that I want to have some impact on the world.
- 44. I learned that it's okay to ask others for help.
- 45. I learned that most of what used to upset me were little things that aren't worth getting upset about.
- 46. I learned to stand up for my personal rights.
- 47. A prior relationship with another person became more meaningful.
- 48. I became better able to view my parents as people, and not just parents.
- 49. I learned that there are more people who care about me than I thought.
- 50. I developed a stronger sense of community, of belonging, that I am part of a larger group.

APPENDIX B

Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations: Situation Specific Coping

Think of a stressful event you are currently dealing with or have recently experienced. Please indicate which ONE of the following best describes the everyday stressful event that you are thinking of:

Problem with spouse/significant other Problem with family member Problem with friend/acquaintance Health problem Financial problem Work-related problem School-related problem Other (please describe):

The following are ways people react to various difficult or upsetting situations. Please circle a number from 1 to 5 for each item to indicate how much you engaged in these types of activities during this specific stressful situation.

12345Not at allVery often

[For copyright purposes, items on the CISS: SSC have not been reproduced. As discussed in the Measures section, participants responded to the 21 items on the CISS: SSC by referring to the 5 point scale included above]

APPENDIX C

New General Self-Efficacy Scale

For each item, indicate how much you agree that the statement is an accurate description of you using the following scale:

12345Strongly disagreeStrongly agree

1. I will be able to achieve most of the goals that I have set for myself.

2. When facing difficult tasks, I am certain that I will accomplish them.

3. In general, I think that I can obtain outcomes that are important to me.

4. I believe I can succeed at most any endeavor to which I set my mind.

5. I will be able to successfully overcome many challenges.

6. I am confident that I can perform effectively on many different tasks.

7. Compared to other people, I can do most tasks very well.

8. Even when things are tough, I can perform quite well.

(Chen, Gully, & Eden, 2001)

APPENDIX D

Rumination Inventory

Respond to the items by	circling your respor	nse on the four point scale	below each item.	
1. Recently, I have thought about my traumatic experience when I didn't mean to.				
1	2	3	4	
Not at all	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	
2. Recently, thoughts abo	out the event came t	o my mind and I could not	get rid of them.	
1	2	3	4	
Not at all	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	
3. Recently, I decided to	think about the exp	erience to try and make set	nse out of what	
happened.				
1	2	3	4	
Not at all	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	
4. Recently, I have tried	to make something	good come out of my strug	ggle.	
1	2	3	4	
Not at all	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	
5. Recently, I reminded r	nyself of some of th	he benefits that came from	adjusting to the	
traumatic experience.				
1	2	3	4	
Not at all	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	
6. As a result of what happened, recently I find myself automatically thinking about the				
purpose of my life.				
1	2	3	4	
Not at all	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	
7. As a result of what hap	ppened, recently I w	vill deliberately think about	t and ask questions	
about whether or not lif	fe has a meaning or	purpose.		
1	2	3	4	
Not at all	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	

APPENDIX E

Demographic Information

Please answer the following demographic questions:

Gender:

Age (in years):

Program of study: _____

Yearly family income: less than \$10 000 \$10 000 – 19 999 \$20 000 – 29 999 \$30 000 – 39 999 \$40 000 – 49 999 more than \$50 000

How much stress are you currently experiencing due to thinking about the traumatic event?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
No stress			Moderate stress			High stress

APPENDIX F

Consent to Participate in Research

The Long-Term Effects of Trauma and Stress

You are asked to participate in a research study conducted by Jennifer R. Marcus (M.A. Student), under the supervision of Dr. Ken Cramer (Professor), from the Department of Psychology at the University of Windsor. The results of this study will contribute to Ms. Marcus's M.A. thesis.

If you have any questions or concerns about the research, please feel free to contact Jennifer Marcus at <u>marcusj@uwindsor.ca</u> or Dr. Ken Cramer at <u>kcramer@uwindsor.ca</u> or (519) 253-3000, ext. 2239.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

This study is designed to assess the long-term effects of traumatic events on university students' perceptions and behaviours.

PROCEDURES

If you volunteer to participate in this study, we would ask you to do the following things:

- Fill out a series of questionnaires about yourself and current life stressors
- Think about the traumatic event that you have experienced and fill out questionnaires related to your reactions to the event
- Read a post-study information form

Location: Completed online

You will not be contacted for follow-up sessions.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

This study does not have any major risks, except that you may experience some negative feelings (e.g., anxiety, sadness, fear) in response to thinking about the traumatic event that

you have experienced. However, you do not have to answer any questions that you do not feel comfortable answering.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS TO PARTICIPANTS AND/OR TO SOCIETY

This study will expose participants to ways in which people react to trauma and deal with stress. By responding to the questionnaire items, participants may learn about new ways to cope with stress more effectively.

Participants will gain experience being a part of the research process.

The results of this study will be used to inform future research about the long-term effects of experiencing a traumatic event. The results may be used to create interventions to assist individuals in finding meaning in their difficult experiences.

PAYMENT FOR PARTICIPATION

Participants will receive 0.5 bonus points for 30 minutes of participation towards the psychology participant pool, if registered in the pool and enrolled in one or more eligible courses.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study and that can be identified as connected to you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission. Your identity will be used only to allocate participation marks appropriately. Our data will be stored on a computer and coded with a random number so as to maintain anonymity. Data will be kept in a secure office to which only the researchers will have access. No information that discloses your identity will be released or published without your specific consent to disclosure. No confidential records will be consulted. The data being collected will be kept separate from potential identifiers like participant pool mark allocation. In accordance with the American Psychological Association, your data will be kept for 5 year.

PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

You can choose whether to be in this study or not. If you volunteer to be in this study, you may withdraw at any time without consequences of any kind. You may also refuse to answer any questions you do not want to answer and still remain in the study. Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. If you choose to participate, you have the right to discontinue your participation at any time during this experiment, even after providing consent, up until you have submitted all survey data. Should you choose not to participate or choose to stop once you have begun, you will still receive your credits. The investigator may withdraw you from this research if circumstances arise which warrant doing so.

FEEDBACK OF THE RESULTS OF THIS STUDY TO THE PARTICIPANTS

Research findings will be available to participants at the completion of the project at <u>www.uwindsor.ca/reb</u> under 'Study Results'. A user friendly, brief summary of the initial results will be available by October 15th, 2010.

SUBSEQUENT USE OF DATA

This data will be used to inform subsequent studies, but no identifying information will be used.

RIGHTS OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS

You may withdraw your consent at any time and discontinue participation without penalty. If you have questions regarding your rights as a research subject, contact: Mr. Mark Curran, Research Ethics Coordinator, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, N9B 3P4; Telephone: 519-253-3000, ext. 3948; e-mail: <u>ethics@uwindsor.ca</u>

CONSENT OF RESEARCH SUBJECT/LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

By clicking the button below, I indicate my understanding of the information provided for the study **The Long-Term Effects of Trauma and Stress** as described herein. My questions have been answered to my satisfaction, and I agree to participate in this study. I agree to print or request an email copy of this page for my records. To request an email copy please email marcusj@uwindsor.ca

December 1, 2009

Signature of Investigator

Date

I AGREE TO PARTICIPATE

I DO NOT AGREE TO PARTICIPATE

PRINT THIS DOCUMENT FOR YOUR RECORDS

APPENDIX G

Instructions for Description of Trauma

Traumatic events can take many forms. They can include robbery, sudden death of a loved one, abuse, war, assault, and natural disaster. Traumatic events can also include life events such as serious problems related to work, school, or relationships, non-sudden death of a loved one, diagnosis with illness, and parental divorce. These events do not include minor problems related to work, school, or relationships, everyday usual stressors, and events that did not cause you high levels of ongoing stress.

Think of a specific traumatic even that you have experienced within the past five years. In the space below, please write a brief description of the traumatic event that includes what kind of event it was and how you reacted at the time.



Indicate the number of months that have elapsed since the traumatic event:



How much stress do you remember experiencing at the time of the traumatic event? Choose one:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
No stress			Moderate stress			High stress

APPENDIX H

Information Form

Thank you for completing this study on the long-term effects of trauma.

The topic of this research is posttraumatic growth, or the idea that one can experience benefits and find meaning in a traumatic event. Research has shown some individuals can in fact have more positive interpersonal relationships, have a more positive self-concept, and have a better outlook on life after they have experienced and coped with a traumatic event. This study aims to assess the long-term effects of posttraumatic growth on one's ability to cope with later events.

Sometimes the events you experienced can be difficult to think about. They can cause people to feel strong emotions related to anxiety, sadness, and fear. If you, a friend, or a family member have questions, would like someone to talk to, or need help with a problem, it is recommended that you take advantage of one of the following services available to individuals in your area.

Student Counselling Centre	Distress Centre of Windsor-Essex
293 CAW Centre, 401 Sunset Ave.	County
Windsor, ON N9B 3P4	Crisis Phone: (519) 256-5000
Tel: (519) 253-3000 Ext. 4616	For persons in distress
Sexual Assault Crisis Centre of Essex	Amherstburg Community Services
County	(ACS)
(24 hours)	400 Sandwich St. S, Unit 31
Email: <u>sacc@wincom.net</u>	Amherstburg, ON N9V 3L4
Tel: (519) 253-9667	Tel: (519) 736-5471
Lesbian Gay Bi Youth Line	Maryvale Adolescent & Family
Tel: 1-800-268-YOUTH	Services
(Can call from anywhere in Ontario)	3640 Wells Street
	Windsor, ON
	Tel: (519) 258-0484

To find out more about posttraumatic growth and how it benefits the lives of those who experience it, the following articles and books are recommended:

Linley, P. A. & Joseph, S. (2004). Positive psychology following trauma and adversity: A review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *17*(1), 11-21.

Park, C. L., Mills-Baxter, M. A., & Fenster, J. R. (2005). Post-traumatic growth from life's most traumatic event: Influences on elders' current coping and adjustment. *Traumatology*, *11*(4), 297-306.

Tedeschi, R. G., Park, C. L., & Calhoun, L. G. (Eds.). (1998). *Posttraumatic Growth: Positive Changes in the Aftermath of Crisis*. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

If you have any further questions or concerns about the research or would like an email copy of this document, please feel free to contact Jennifer Marcus at <u>marcusj@uwindsor.ca</u> or Dr. Ken Cramer at <u>kcramer@uwindsor.ca</u> or (519) 253-3000, ext. 2239.

PRINT THIS DOCUMENT FOR YOUR RECORDS

APPENDIX I

Author Permission to use Stress-Related Growth Scale

Hello Dr. Park,

My name is Jennifer Marcus and I am a Master's student at the University of Windsor in Windsor, Ontario. I have become very interested in your research on stress-related growth. In particular, I found your 2005 article on the long-term benefits of post-traumatic growth intriguing. It sparked a number of questions in my mind regarding the mediating variables between the experience of growth and later adjustment. I have decided to examine some of these mediators within my Master's thesis. As part of my study, I was hoping to administer the SRGS. Has this scale been published in the literature? As of now I have not been able to locate it. Is it possible to receive a copy of this measure for use in my thesis?

Thank you in advance for your assistance and I look forward to hearing from you,

Jennifer Marcus MA Candidate Adult Clinical Psychology University of Windsor marcusj@uwindsor.ca

Hello Jennifer,

Thanks for your interest in our scale. I am attaching both versions of the measure (full and short form) here. A number of studies have been published that used each of these, and you are welcome to use either.

Please keep me posted on your research; sounds interesting!

Crystal

APPENDIX J

Author Permission to use Rumination Inventory

Hello Dr. Calhoun,

My name is Jennifer Marcus and I am a Master's student at the University of Windsor in Windsor, Ontario. I have become very interested in your research on posttraumatic growth. In particular, I have found your research on the relationship between rumination and posttraumatic growth intriguing. It sparked a number of questions in my mind regarding how rumination alters the long-term effects of psychological growth. I have decided to examine some of these questions within my Master's thesis. As part of my study, I was hoping to administer the rumination scale that you used in your article "A correlational test of the relationship between posttraumatic growth, religion, and cognitive processing" (2000). Have the items in this scale been published in the literature? As of now I have not been able to locate them. Is it possible to receive a copy of this measure for use in my thesis?

Thank you in advance for your assistance and I look forward to hearing from you,

Jennifer Marcus MA Candidate Adult Clinical Psychology University of Windsor marcusj@uwindsor.ca

Jennifer,

Lawrence asked me to reply to your request, since I have become the 'rumination guy' in the research group. Attached you will find the original items from the 2000 study. Since then we have been working to revise the items to be able to more clearly separate 'intrusive' and 'deliberate' styles of rumination. A new set of items, based on some preliminary data have been created. We are in the process of collecting additional data to validate these items, but the initial analyses are promising. You are welcome to use either set of items.

You also might find some of the references below to be of interest. The 2 marked with asterisks are available as on-line publications, but if you cannot access them, and believe they might be of interest, we have pdf copies available.

Arnie

VITA AUCTORIS

Jennifer R. Marcus was born in 1985 in London, Ontario. She graduated from A. B. Lucas Secondary School in 2003. She attended York University and graduated with an Honours B.A. in Psychology in 2007. With the submission of this thesis Jennifer will have completed her Master's degree in Adult Clinical Psychology at the University of Windsor. She hopes to graduate in Fall 2010.